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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report
misleading.

This report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the
Company’s website at www.kml.com.hk.

BRBERSMERA R ([HRF]) GEMH&EE

GEMIVEN - BTARPPMEARRB—ELTNTS - kE
NEMEBEMEBRIA TN RARATERSRERR
FERENATETHRRENZSEQANWEERR - AE
RBEEBFNEBATFHRENRE -

HRGEMETAREEBATPMEAT - EGEMEENE
ZURERREREE B AIBEANT S RE AR -
FAREEZREBEGEMEENES SRS RERNTS -

BB B RAGEIT BRI T R B PTEA8 & AB 8
TRE  HHEEM TR T BRI WEY - L HHE
KT AR IE 2 B A5 A BT E A L AR
EREND TSI TR AE TR -

A& B E R T IRBE PT I GEMEE 5 _E T A (|GEM
EHRR)TTIE - B RS HRREEGRAA]
([EREBER  ARNEEE ([EE)) B A&
RAGFIHAIELRBE T - EEFEEL —EEEHE -

ERRBEFHRING » TG FHER EEEETHE
BT RBRE G - A AR ER

S SR F IR E B[R R -

ABRENRXARPFXREEH N A QA H

www.kml.com.hk

SHNREEERAT « ZT-=/ZNFFH

1



r

‘h;_‘*‘ ’”-V | e
tents

Tiamr
T!Il

I
‘\gﬁjh

Page
=N
Corporate Information 3
NRIEHR
Chairman’s Statement 5)
TREHE
Financial Highlights 7
MisHE
Management Discussion and Analysis 8
ERE IO
Directors and Senior Management 15
EFREREERE
Report of Directors 21
EEGWE
Corporate Governance Report 40
LEERME
Independent Auditor’s Report 56
Bz H RS
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 61
REBREREMEEKER
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 62
fRE IR E
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 63
FARREHE
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 64
HAERESRER
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 66
IR e TS mER T
Financial Summary 132
MIBHE

2 KML Technology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24



Corporate Information
NEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (appointed as Chief Executive Officer
on 7 August 2023)

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (retired as Executive Director and
ceased to act as Chief Executive Officer on 7 August 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. Tse Chi Kong

Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry (retired on 7 August 2023)

Audit Committee

Mr. Lau On Kwok (Chairman)
Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen
Dr. Tse Chi Kong

Remuneration Committee
Dr. Tse Chi Kong (Chairman)
Mr. Lau On Kwok
Mr. Luk Kam Ming

Nomination Committee

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. Tse Chi Kong

Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry (ceased to act on 7 August 2023)

Risk Management Committee

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen (Chairman)

Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (ceased to act on 7 August 2023)
Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry (ceased to act on 7 August 2023)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung
Ms. Woo Siu Wai

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Woo Siu Wai

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

g
BTES
PESEAR S A (25

BEERAE(R-_Z-_=F\ALHEZERTTHRER)

BEETELE
POEBEE (M- Z_=F\ALRRERTEER
NEEETRAEE)

BYFPITES

BB EE

BKESE

HEREL

FokiEEE RZE-=E\A+HEML)

EREEE
BB L (FE)
BNERE
HEMEL

FHESS
WEMNEL(EE)
Eldeibitad
PEEERA S

REZES

BEEERASE A (£/%)

BEoXESRE

HEREL

RKEEE R T _=F/\A B THER)

EREEZESS

BXESRE(FE)

Eldeibted

BEEREL

BEETEL

POZB A (RZE_=FN\ABTEER)
FAKEEERZZE_=F\A+BTHER)

EERE
BEFRELE
B L

DREWE
B Rt

BREME
BEEPRE

=B
KB ETAN BT
PRI A
LR T2 B AR IZ BT
B

0 #0R R 23897998
Rt — 271

SHNREEERAT « ZT-=/ZNFFH



Corporate Information
NEEHR

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

HONG KONG

B12, G/F

Shatin Industrial Centre
Siu Lek Yuen Road
Shatin, New Territories
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN

THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
www.kml.com.hk

STOCK CODE
8065

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24

SR

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

ERENRETEERME

Fs
ARDA
RS
SR T A
HTB12E

HERETERMBFETE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

ERROBTE
SERFELERAA
B8

BRIE169%
BERERPOITE

FEARELT
TR LDSESRITERAT
ERIRIT(EE)BRAT

DAL

www.kml.com.hk

B A 5%
8065



Chairman’s Statement
EEHME

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), it is my pleasure to report the
annual results of the Group for year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting
Year’).

BUSINESS REVIEW

As the COVID-19 pandemic had come to the end in Hong Kong, we
dedicated substantial efforts to accelerate the completion of projects in
hand. With the enduring pressure from increasing costs of labour and
subcontracting, we continued to strengthen project management and
streamlined our internal resources to ensure that all projects implemented
efficiently and effectively. The Group’s revenue for the Reporting Year
increased by approximately HK$40.7 million, or approximately 26.5%
from approximately HK$153.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023
to approximately HK$194.1 million for the Reporting Year. The Group
recorded a net loss of approximately HK$13.8 million for the Reporting
Year whereas a net loss of approximately HK$32.2 million for year ended
31 March 2023.

The business environment of the industry we operate in Hong Kong
remained challenging and competitive. Increasing staff costs had been
jeopardising the return of our projects in the past years. We believe
that such difficult situation may continue. In the face of adversity, we
recognised that research and development (‘R&D”) is the key to growth.
We have been investing in latest technologies such as the Internet of
Things, robotics, and artificial intelligence. Throughout the year, we
have successfully incorporated some of our R&D outcomes into our
projects, enhancing efficiency and reducing expenses, notably (i) using
our proprietary built and programmed robots at client locations to validate
the target reliability of automatic fare collection (“AFC”) systems; and (i)
launching smart maintenance service provision for our client which enables
our technical service team and customers to remotely monitor the healthy
status of equipment in operation and detect irregular patterns in the data
flow, allowing for conditional maintenance and pre-emptive debugging to
maximise the usability and stability of the related systems and equipment.

The commitment to excellence in mechanical and electrical (‘“M&E”)
services for the Hong Kong transportation industries is evident through
the continuous support provided to key clients. During the Reporting Year,
the implementation of a one-stop solution for an automatic fare collection
system marks a significant achievement, enhancing the travel experience
for passengers with seamless contactless payment options. Our proactive
approach to addressing clients’ urgent needs is demonstrated by the
swift integration of quick response code (QR Code) payment receivers,
reflecting a dedication to service responsiveness. The broadening of our
customer base to encompass service providers in the ferry and airport
sectors indicates a significant market acceptance of our products and
services. This expansion reflects our commitment to quality and the
versatility of our offerings, catering to the specialised needs of various
modes of public transportation. Notably, the deployment of new fare
collection systems and electronic equipment at certain of ferry terminals
signifies our dedication to aesthetic excellence, which are designed in
close collaboration with architects and designers to ensure seamless
integration with the renovated environment. Our efforts underscore
the importance we place on enhancing user experience through both
operational efficiency and design sophistication.

Beyond business accomplishments, recognition through awards for being
a caring company for more than 15 years and receiving the Heart Caring
Outstanding Organisation Award underscores the social impact and
commitment to employee welfare. These awards serve as a testament to
the efforts invested in nurturing a supportive and responsible corporate
environment.
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Chairman’s Statement
TREHRE

FORWARD

Looking forward, the rising consciousness of environmental, social, and
governance (“ESG”) factors is becoming increasingly prevalent in society,
and correspondingly, among our clientele. Throughout the Reporting
Year, we successfully provided consultancy services for a substantial
number of electric vehicle (“EV(s)”) charging projects under Home Subsidy
Scheme (‘EHSS”). We anticipate there are more business opportunities
in supporting environmentally conscious projects, especially related to
energy conservation and utilisation of clean energy, for our customers.
To seize these emerging opportunities, we are keen to investigate co-
operation opportunities with Hong Kong-based academic institutions on
eco-friendly projects.

The strategic expansion into Greater China and Southeast Asia represents
a proactive approach to overcoming the challenges and intense
competition within Hong Kong’s dynamic market. By focusing on Mobile
Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, we leverage our
edges and experience, and are poised to diversify our market base,
thereby enhancing brand recognition and fostering robust business
growth. This geographical diversification is complemented by the pursuit
of local business partnerships, which are instrumental in achieving cost
efficiency for ongoing and future projects.

Moreover, we target to enhance our operational excellence by adoption of
advanced technologies, such as smart site safety systems, and investing
in a virtual reality system which provides our team a virtual platform that
mirrors the actual work environment, allowing for an immersive training
experience and ensuring a seamless transition to on-site operations.
By enhancing efficiency and effectiveness, closely monitoring work site
safety, and promoting a culture of safety awareness among workers, the
company is not only prioritising the well-being of its employees but also
optimising its operational processes.

These strategic initiatives are expected to have positive contribution to our
financial health, with a particular emphasis on improving the gross profit
margin. This multifaceted approach, which combines market expansion,
technological integration, and financial acumen, is our strategy to navigate
the complexities of the modern business landscape and emerge as a
leader in M&E industry. Our vision for growth is clear, and these strategies
are aligned with our goal of achieving long-term success and sustainability
in a rapidly evolving market.

A NOTE OF APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express my
appreciation to shareholders of our Company (the “Shareholder(s)”),
customers and suppliers for their continuous support and trust to the
Group and express our sincere thanks to the management and staff for
their commitment and contribution throughout the year.

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2024
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Revenue of the Group for the Reporting Year amounted to approximately AREBRBEFENRZNE1941B8EBT (B (=
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) 194.1 million (2023: approximately HK$153.4 T=4F : #J153.488BTT) °
million).

Gross profit of the Group for the Reporting Year amounted to AEBRREFENEFLNE2098EB LT _=F:

approximately HK$29.9 million (2023: approximately HK$9.9 million). #Q.90BBHETT) °

The net loss of the Group for the Reporting Year amounted to AEBRREFENFEBOR/IBAEET(ZE2=
approximately HK$13.8 million (2023: approximately HK$32.2 million). F 432288 BT) ©

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the EEETEARNREFENRBRE(ZZT == :
Reporting Year (2023: nil). =) o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

During the Reporting Year, approximately HK$194.1 million (2023:
approximately HK$153.4 million) revenue was generated during the
Reporting Year, representing a growth of approximately HK$40.7 million
or approximately 26.5%. The increase in revenue was primarily attributable
to the improvement in the progress of the projects on hand during the
Reporting Year.

The gross profit for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$29.9 million
(2023: approximately HK$9.9 million). The increase in gross profit was
mainly attributed to (i) increase in revenue; and (i) the absence of provision
for onerous contract (2023: approximately HK$16.2 million) recognised
during the Reporting Year.

The Group’s outstanding contracts-in-hand was approximately HK$342.0
million as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$438.3 million).

During the Reporting Year, our M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering
Services continued to be the largest contributor to the revenue. During
the Reporting Year, approximately HK$102.8 million (2023: approximately
HK$80.3 million) revenue was recognised.

In addition, the revenue from mobile ticketing and digital payment
solutions and services increased to approximately HK$54.7 million (2023:
approximately HK$19.8 million) during the Reporting Year. The increment
was contributed to partial completion of the replacement, modify and
upgrade of the AFC systems of our customers.

Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions

This type of works in relation to the railway signalling, communication
and control system, point operating equipment and platform screen door
system.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from this segment amounted
to approximately HK$10.5 million (2023: approximately HK$24.5 million).
The decrease of approximately 57.1% is mainly due to the completion of
several large projects in 2023.

Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services
These services offer mobile ticketing and digital payment solutions and
services to different sectors in Hong Kong and overseas.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from this segment amounted
to approximately HK$54.7 million (2023: approximately HK$19.8 million).
The increase of approximately 176.3% was mainly due to the higher
completion percentage of major projects in hand in relation to installation
of AFC systems during the Reporting Year.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Digital Fabrication and Maintenance Services

These services primarily provide computerised and advanced maintenance
support services for various systems such as AFC system and trackside
signalling system, terminals, and equipment. This includes part/component
replacement, equipment upgrades and improvements, hardware and
software upgrade/replacement services, testing, and routine preventive,
corrective, and workshop maintenance services.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from the provision of these
services amounted to approximately HK$25.2 million (2023: approximately
HK$23.3 million).

MG&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services encompass design,
installation, testing and commissioning and maintenance of miscellaneous
M&E engineering systems such as railway station M&E engineering
services and architectural works, train-borne systems provisions, trackside
and depot M&E works and different kinds of renovation works.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from this segment amounted
to approximately HK$102.8 million (2023: approximately HK$80.3 million).
The increase of approximately 28.0% mainly due to higher percentage
of completion of several major projects such as replacement of smoke
curtains, replacement of station lighting with light-emitting diode (“‘LED”)
technology, refurbishment and replacement of air handling units (AHU) at
various railway lines.

Sales of Products, Parts and Components

The Group sources certain parts and components and sometime
customises certain products to our customers according to their
requirements. We primarily supply railway signalling and AFC related
products, parts and components.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from this segment
amounted to approximately HK$1.0 million (2023: approximately HK$5.5
million), representing a decrement of approximately 81.8%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group is unwavering in its commitment to ESG principles, which are
fundamental to our long-term growth and success. During the Reporting
Year, we achieved several achievements and progress, including (i) in
the “Governance” pillar, we were awarded the Privacy-Friendly Silver
Award from the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data,
Hong Kong, underscoring our commitment to upholding a high level of
data privacy and security; (ii) On the “Social” front, we have placed a
strong emphasis on employee engagement and well-being. We fostered
a happy, caring, healthy, safe working environment for our employees
through various physical and mental health promotion, diversity initiatives,
and we held the inaugural 3.8 International Women’s Day event winning
overwhelming satisfaction and appreciation. Our dedicated efforts in
promoting smoke-free and heart caring were endorsed with Hong Kong
Smoke-free Leading Company Awards 2023 Gold Award and recognised
as Heart Caring Organisation Award — Outstanding Organisation; and (i)
In the “Environmental” domain, we have introduced innovative green and
sustainable solutions in our business endeavour and promoted the Carbon
Neutrality Competition to inspire sustainable practices. Additionally, we
added one more electric vehicle to our fleet, contributing to our carbon
reduction goals. For more details, please refer to our ESG report published
on the Group’s website (www.kml.com.hk).

OUTLOOK

The shortage of talent and rising manpower costs in Hong Kong will
continue to present significant challenges to the Group’s business. If
these adverse factors persist, they could jeopardise the performance
of our projects. The Group will closely monitor the situation and take
appropriate actions, including proactively recruiting talent from the market
and collaborating with educational institutions to develop a pipeline of
emerging talent.

In addition, we will enhance our operational excellence by applying
advanced technologies such as smart site safety systems and a virtual
reality training system. This virtual platform mirrors the actual work
environment, providing an immersive training experience and ensuring a
seamless transition to on-site operations. We believe that leveraging these
advanced technologies will help reduce manpower expenses and improve
our financial performance.

Several ongoing infrastructure projects in Hong Kong will be completed
soon, which we expect will ease the shortage of skilled labour and help
reduce the currently soaring labour and subcontracting costs. Alongside
our multifaceted approach to recruiting talent and engaging advanced
technologies for reducing manpower costs, we will also utilise various
project management tools to enable better monitoring and measurement
of project performance align with the best industry practice.

We foresee stable demand for M&E engineering services in the
transportation industry over the next few years due to the construction
of new railways and the replacement or upgrade of existing railways.
Additionally, we anticipate ample business opportunities in the installation
of EV chargers, driven by the growing popularity of electric vehicles in
Hong Kong and the ongoing progress of the EV-charging at EHSS.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24
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OUTLOOK (CONTINUED)

With the estimated new supply of 140,000 EV chargers under EHSS set
to address the shortage of charging facilities in Hong Kong by 2027/28,
we strive to provide innovative and cutting-edge solutions that precisely
cater to market demands. We are committed to actively pursuing these
opportunities.

Anticipating robust demand for design and installation services beyond
EHSS, we recognise the resilience of this market in Hong Kong, propelled
by the growing adoption of EVs. Committed to this promising sector,
we plan to allocate more resources to explore and expand business
prospects within this domain.

Looking ahead, while our business is primarily based in Hong Kong, we
are eager to expand our footprint to other areas with focus on Mobile
Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, such as the Greater
Bay Area of China, Taiwan, and other Southeast Asian countries in order
to diversify our market base, and enhance brand recognition, and foster
robust business growth.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group for the Reporting Year amounted to approximately
HK$194.1 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$40.7
million or approximately 26.5% as compared with approximately
HK$153.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The increment was
mainly due to higher percentage of completion for ongoing major projects.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales comprised (i) material and
equipment; (i) direct labour; and (jii) sub-contracting cost. The cost of
sales increased by approximately 14.4% from approximately HK$143.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$164.2
million for the Reporting Year. The increase was mainly attributed to the
higher consumption of materials and the increased expenditure on labour
and subcontracting costs to support the accelerated pace of project
progress.

The gross profit for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$29.9 million
(2023: approximately HK$9.9 million). The increase in gross profit was
mainly attributed to (i) the absence of provision for onerous contract (2023:
approximately HK$16.2 million) recognised; and (i) the higher volume of
works completed resulting increase in revenue during the Reporting Year.

Impairment loss on financial assets and contract assets

During the Reporting Year, the Group recognised approximately
HK$50,000 reversal of impairment loss (2023: impairment loss of
approximately HK$5.2 million). An impairment loss was recognised for
credit-impaired long outstanding trade receivable of approximately HK$4.1
million and uncollectible contract assets of approximately HK$1.6 million
in prior year. No such credit-impaired and uncollectible receivables are
identified during the Reporting Year.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately 6.9%
from approximately HK$43.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$46.5 million for the Reporting Year. Such increase was
mainly due to an increase of staff cost.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company

The Group recorded net loss attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$13.8 million for the Reporting Year (2023: approximately
HK$32.2 million). The reduction in loss was mainly attributed to (i) increase
in revenue; (i) the absence of provision of onerous contracts; and (iii) the
decrease in impairment losses of trade receivables and contract assets,
which is partially set-off by the increase of administrative expenses.

Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has HK$15.0 million outstanding
borrowings which are repayable within 12 months (2023: nil). The gearing
ratio, representing the proportion of total bank borrowings to total equity
as at 31 March 2024 was 11.0% (2023: not applicable) which is primarily
attributed to the Group’s borrowings raised during the Reporting Year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Group has met the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows, bank borrowings and capital
contribution from its Shareholders.

The Group requires cash primarily for working capital needs. As at 31
March 2024, the Group had approximately HK$70.2 million in (i) bank
balances and cash; (ii) pledged bank deposits; and (iii) time deposits
with original maturity over three months (2023: approximately HK$101.0
million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$30.8 million as
compared to that as at 31 March 2023.

Other than the bank borrowings raised, there has been no change on the
capital structure of the Group for the Reporting Year and up to the date of
this report (the “Date of this Report”). The share capital of the Company
only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2024, the issued share capital of the Company was
HK$4,049,600 divided into 404,960,000 shares (“Shares”) of HK$0.01
each.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$1.2 million for the Reporting Year which comprised
acquisition of furniture, fixtures and office equipment (2023: approximately
HK$2.3 million).

Final Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Year (2023: nil).

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed 179 employees (2023:
190 employees). The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with
the prevailing market practice and are determined on the basis of
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee. On
top of basic salaries, bonus may be paid with reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff benefits
include provision of retirement benefits, medical and life insurance
benefits. Share options and/or share awards may also be granted to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well as the
individual contribution.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

We conducted business with customers, suppliers and subcontractors
located in Hong Kong, China and overseas. The Group’s exposure to
the currency risk mainly arises from the fluctuation of Renminbi, Pound
Sterling, Euro or United States dollars. The Group currently does not
have any hedging policy in place for its foreign currency exposure. The
management will consider hedging significant currency exposure should
the need arise.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Reporting Year. The Group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not hold any significant investments in equity interest in any
other companies as at 31 March 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES

There were no other significant investments held, material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the Reporting
Year.

PLEDGES OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group pledged certain amount of bank deposits
and investments in life insurance policies to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group. For details, please refer to notes 20,15 and
23 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any capital commitment as at 31 March 2024
(2023: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (20283: nil).
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

For the Reporting Year, the following principal risks of the Group were
identified:

(a) if the Group fails to effectively implement good project management
which leads to the delays and failure to meet the completion targets,
the penalties and cost escalation may be the consequences.
Belated handover may also be detrimental to its reputation and the
long-term relationship with customers;

(b) if the Group is unable to make correct assessment on the estimated
costs and level of difficulty of required for the work on tender, the
financial viability of the project may be affected;

(c) the Group relies on few numbers of key customers which may
result in over-reliance on these particular customers. The loss of
one customer or downsizing of these customers could potentially
have a significant impact to the Group’s revenue;

(d) the Group, like most Hong Kong companies, have been facing
challenges of a brain drain amid a recent wave of emigration. If
the Group is unable to develop, attract and retain employees with
capabilities and commitment needed, achievement of long run
objectives may be jeopardised; and

(e) maintaining high quality and safety standards is vital for customer
satisfaction and our reputation. Failure to effectively monitor and
communicate requirements to subcontractors could result in poor
performance, exposing the Group to legal risks and potential
penalties. Substandard work may also lead to suspension,
disqualification from customer lists, and lost tendering opportunities.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify,
assess, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence, operating
units are responsible for identifying and monitoring risks associated with
each business. The management, as the second line of defence, defines
rules and models, provides technical support, develops new systems and
oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within acceptable
range and that the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of
defence, the risk management committee of the Company (the “Risk
Management Committee”), with the professional and independent
advice from the internal audit function ensures the first and second line of
defence are effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major
risks (including ESG risks) of the Group. The risk register provides the
Board, the Risk Management Committee and management with a profile
of its major risks and records management’s action taken to mitigate the
relevant risks. The risk register will be reviewed and monitored at least
annually. The review process ensures that the Group proactively manages
the risks faced by it.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (“Mr. KM Luk”), aged 77, is an Executive Director
and the chairman of the Board. Mr. KM Luk founded the Group and joined
us when he was appointed as a director of KML Engineering Limited (“KML
Engineering”) in August 1977. Mr. KM Luk is responsible for overall
strategic planning and development of the Group, and oversees the
financial management and planning of the Group. He is also the chairman
of the Nomination Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. KM Luk has more than 50 years of experience in the M&E engineering
industry, with a focus on the development of automatic fare collection
and railway transportation control systems. In August 1977, Mr. KM
Luk founded KML Engineering, the principal subsidiary of the Group
as a contractor for providing services in the fields of electrical power
engineering, signalling and communication engineering, and computer-
based toll collection systems, etc.

Mr. KM Luk was registered as a Registered Professional Engineer (RPE) by
the Engineers Registration Board. He was also registered as a Chartered
Engineer (CEng) by The Institution of Electronic and Radio Engineers,
the United Kingdom, a Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering
Institutions, the United Kingdom. He is admitted a member and registered
as a Chartered Electrical Engineer by The Institution of Electrical Engineers
(currently known as the Institution of Engineering and Technology), the
United Kingdom, and a Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering
institutions, the United Kingdom. He is also admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of Institution of Railway
Signal Engineers, and a member of Hong Kong Association of Energy
Engineers. He was nominated as the Country Vice President of Institution
of Railway Signal Engineers for Hong Kong, China in March 2011.

Mr. KM Luk is the father of Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (“Mr. KL Luk”) and Mr.
Luk Yin Cheung (“Mr. YC Luk”), both our Executive Directors. Mr. KM
Luk is also the spouse of Ms. Leung Kwok Yee (“Madam Leung”),
our controlling Shareholder, and the father-in-law of Ms. Woo Siu Wai
(“Madam Woo0”), the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”).
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung, aged 47, is an Executive Director and our chief
executive officer. Mr. KL Luk is responsible for (i) managing the overall
business operations and development and (ii) executing business
strategies of the Group. Mr. KL Luk has been a director of KML
Technology Limited ("KML Technology") and KML Engineering since
February 2012 and November 2015 respectively. Mr. KL Luk is one of the
authorised signatories appointed by KML Engineering for its qualification
as a Registered Minor Works for Type A of Class Il & Ill under the Building
Ordinance. Mr. KL Luk is also a member of the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. KL Luk joined the Group in January 2003 and appointed as deputy
managing director of KML Engineering in December 2015. He developed
comprehensive experiences in process management in various
departments in KML Engineering, and acted as the project manager for
various projects undertaken by the Group in the past years.

Mr. KL Luk obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in hotel
administration from University of Nevada, Las Vegas, the United States,
a degree of Master of Science in administrative studies from Boston
University, the United States, and a degree of Master of Science in
engineering business management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, Hong Kong. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

Mr. KL Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, the founder of the Group, Executive
Director and chairman of the Board, and the elder brother of Mr. YC
Luk, an Executive Director. Mr. KL Luk is the elder son of Madam Leung,
our controlling Shareholder, and the brother-in-law of Madam Woo, the
Company Secretary.

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (former name is Luk Tit Cheung), aged 45, is an
Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is responsible for overseeing the operation
support of the Group, including purchase and procurement of the Group.
Mr. YC Luk has been a director of KML Technology and KML Engineering
since February 2012 and November 2015 respectively. Mr. YC Luk is also
a member of the Risk Management Committee.

Mr. YC Luk joined the Group in June 2006 and appointed as associate
director and executive director of KML Engineering in December 2015 and
January 2022 respectively. In the past 18 years, Mr. YC Luk has gained
vast experience in providing training on occupation safety, purchasing,
inventory and logistics management in the M&E engineering industry.

Mr. YC Luk graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration from The University College of the Cariboo, Canada and
Postgraduate Diploma in Marketing by The University of Hong Kong
School of Professional and Continuing Education in association with
the Chartered Institute of Marketing, Hong Kong. He was elected an
affiliate member of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in
Hong Kong and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. To
promote the occupational safety of the Group, Mr. YC Luk also awarded
a Diploma in Occupational Health and Safety by the Li Ka Shing Institute
of Professional and Continuing Education, The Open University of Hong
Kong. To enhance the risk oversight of the Group, he also obtained an
Advanced Diploma in Risk and Crisis Management by the Institute of
Crisis and Risk Management and awarded as a Certified Risk Professional
in December 2021.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. YC Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, the founder of the Group, Executive
Director and chairman of the Board, and the younger brother of Mr. KL
Luk, an Executive Director and our chief executive officer. Mr. YC Luk is
the younger son of Madam Leung, our controlling Shareholder, and the
spouse of Madam Woo, the Company Secretary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau On Kwok (“Mr. Lau”), aged 57, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Lau is
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Risk
Management Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lau has extensive experience in the fields of financial management,
corporate governance and direct investment. He started his career as
accounting professional in an international accountancy firm. Mr. Lau
was an executive director at China Assets Investment Management
Limited and was also the company secretary and a member of investment
committee of China Assets (Holdings) Limited, a company previously listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 170) from April 2004 to December
2010. He was a director of Shandong Lukang Pharmaceutical Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600789), from May 2007 to April 2012. From May 2009 to
January 2011, Mr. Lau was an independent non-executive director of
Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0851). He was employed by Sheng Yuan Asset Management
Limited from January 2011 to August 2014, where his last position
was executive director. He also assumed the duties of the managing
director of Sheng Yuan Investment Advisors Limited from January 2011
to December 2013. Mr. Lau was the company secretary and financial
controller at Winshine Science Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 209), from November 2014 to November
2018. Mr. Lau has been a director of China Assets (Holdings) Limited and
a director of China Assets Investment Management Limited since October
2018.

Mr. Lau obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in accounting and financial
analysis from the Newcastle University (formerly known as “University of
Newcastle upon Tyne”) and a degree of Master of Science in financial
management from University of London. He also obtained a Diploma on
Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations affecting Foreign Business
jointly awarded by Southwest University of Political Science and Law and
the Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. Lau is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the United Kingdom.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen (“Mr. Law”), aged 54, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Law is
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee, and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Law has extensive experience in financial management and
professional accounting. He was the chief financial officer of Diamondlite
Limited, one of the leading jewellery manufacturers in China. Having
started his career as a professional accountant in an international
accountancy firm, Mr. Law has undertaken key financial management
positions in companies engaged in a variety of industries. Mr. Law has
been an executive director and company secretary of Kai Yuan Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1215),
since May 2011 and February 2014 respectively and is also currently their
chief financial officer.

Mr. Law obtained a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Dr. Tse Chi Kong (“Dr. Tse”), aged 59, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Dr. Tse is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

From September 1991 to October 2019, Dr. Tse worked as a lecturer,
assistant professor, associate professor, professor and chair professor
in the department of electronic and information engineering (“EIE
Department”) of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Dr. Tse was the
head of EIE Department from August 2005 to December 2012. Since
October 2019, Dr. Tse has been a chair professor in the department
of electrical engineering at City University of Hong Kong (“CityU”), and
since February 2021, he has been appointed as Associate Vice-President
(Strategic Research) at CityU. Dr. Tse was a member of the research
projects assessment panel of Innovation and Technology Fund, a fund
administered by the Innovation and Technology Commission of the
Government of Hong Kong, for a term from January 2017 to December
2018. From January 2013 to 2019, he was a member of the Quality
Education Fund Steering Committee, which advises the Hong Kong
Government on the policies and procedures governing the operation
of the Quality Education Fund. From May 2015 to May 2021, he was
a member of the Board of Governors of the Hong Kong Sinfonietta,
one of Hong Kong's flagship orchestras supported by the Hong Kong
Government. Since January 2021, Dr. Tse has been appointed as a
member of the Advisory Committee on Gifted Education, a committee
under the Education Bureau of the Hong Kong Government.

Dr. Tse obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering and a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy from The University of Melbourne, Australia. He
has been elected to the grade of fellow of the Institute of Electrical and
Electronic Engineers, Inc., New York. He is a Chartered Professional
Engineer with Engineers Australia and a Fellow of Engineers Australia. He
was the first academic in China to be awarded the Institute of Electrical
and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Circuits and Systems Society (CASS)
Charles A. Desoer Technical Achievement Award 2022.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tung Tsz On (“Mr. Tung”), aged 54, is the chief operating officer
of the Group. Mr. Tung is responsible for research and development,
planning, formulation and supervising the implementation of our projects
with provision of day-to-day technical and expert advice to the Group.
Mr. Tung is one of the authorised signatories of KML Engineering for its
qualification as a Registered Minor Works Contractor for Type A and Type
C of Class Il & lll under the Buildings Ordinance since September 2011.

Mr. Tung has more than 20 years of experience in execution, design
and management of M&E projects covering a variety of systems such as
automatic fare collection systems, electronic payment, automatic control
system, car park system, security system and point of sales system etc.
Since he joined in February 20083, he has served the Group in various
capacities including system engineer and chief engineer. He has also been
promoted to chief operating officer of the Group in August 2023. He leads
the research and development activities of our Group.

Mr. Tung obtained an Advanced Diploma in network engineering granted
by the Hong Kong Productivity Council in December 2000.

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (“Mr. CL Chan”), aged 62, was an Executive
Director and our chief executive officer prior to his retirement on 7 August
2023.

Mr. CL Chan is continued to serve as a director of KML Engineering and
he is a technical director and one of the authorised signatories appointed
by KML Engineering for its qualification as a Registered Minor Works
Contractor for Type A and Type C of Class Il & Ill under the Buildings
Ordinance.

Mr. CL Chan has more than 30 years of experience in M&E engineering.
He joined KML Engineering in October 1987. Since then, he has served
the Group in various capacities including engineer, general manager of
advanced products department, the operation director and the managing
director of KML Engineering.

Mr. CL Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering with first class
honours in mechanical engineering from the Newcastle University (formerly
known as “University of Newcastle upon Tyne”), the United Kingdom
and a degree of Master of Science in Engineering from The University
of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. He was admitted as associate member of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of The Institution of
Electrical Engineers (currently known as the Institution of Engineering and
Technology), the United Kingdom and registered as a Chartered Engineer
(CEng) by the Engineering Council (UK). He was elected as a member of
the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, the United Kingdom. He is also a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Wong Chun Hung (“Mr. Wong”), aged 39, is the chief financial officer
of the Group. He is primarily responsible for the overall corporate financial
matters and capital management of our Group. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member
of Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has
extensive experiences in the field of accounting and finance.

Prior to joining us in October 2023, Mr. Wong served as an assistant
general manager in the finance and accounting department of a
multinational corporation. He also worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
(“Deloitte”), an international accounting firm, from Year 2009 to 2020. His
last position in Deloitte was senior manager of the audit and assurance
department. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor’s degree major in accounting and
minor in finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Ms. Law Shuk Ming (“Ms. Law”), aged 53, is the chief accountant
of KML Engineering, being responsible for day-to-day accounting and
financial reporting of our Group. Ms. Law joined the Group in May 1995
and was promoted to chief accountant in November 2017.

Ms. Law obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration from
Capstone University, the United States, and completed the Accounting
Technician Examination by Hong Kong Institute of Accredited Accounting
Technicians.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Woo Siu Wai, aged 44, is the Company Secretary, responsible
for company secretarial matters, human resources and administrative
duties. Madam Woo joined the Group in April 2011 and was subsequently
promoted to administration manager in October 2016. Madam Woo has
been a director of KML Engineering since November 2021.

Madam Woo obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the faculty of
social sciences of the University of Victoria, Canada, and a degree of
Master of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance
from City University of Hong Kong. Madam Woo was admitted as an
associate of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an
associate of the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

Madam Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk, the Executive Director, the
daughter-in-law of Mr. KM Luk, the founder of the Group, Executive
Director and chairman of the Board, the daughter-in-law of Madam
Leung, our controlling Shareholder, and the sister-in-law of Mr. KL Luk,
the Executive Director.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung, aged 45, has been appointed as the compliance

officer of the Company. His biography is set out in the subsection headed
“Executive Directors” in this section.
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Report of Directors
EEEWmE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of M&E engineering
solutions and services. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group
during the Reporting Year is set out in the note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 61 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Year (2023: nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 2
August 2024 to Wednesday, 7 August 2024, both days inclusive, in order
to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend
the annual general meeting (“AGM(s)”), during which period no transfers
of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting
at the AGM to be held on Wednesday, 7 August 2024, all transfers of
Shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms,
must be lodged for registration with Tricor Investor Services Limited at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 1 August 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as at 31 March 2024 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out in
the paragraphs headed “Business Review” and “Outlook” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Report
respectively. Descriptions of possible risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are provided in paragraphs headed “Principal Risks
and Uncertainties” under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this Report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the Financial Highlights on page 7 of this Report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, important relationships with its stakeholders and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations are contained and available in this
Report of Directors. The above discussions constitute part of this Report
of Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises that all employees have the social obligation to
preserve and enhance the quality of the environment. We strive to protect
the environment in the course of our business activities by preventing
pollution, reducing adverse impact on climate change and enhancing
sustainable development. These policies are supported by our employees
and are implemented effectively.

At the same time, the Group recognises the importance of compliance
with regulatory requirements and applicable laws and regulations. During
the Reporting Year, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. The major laws and regulations relating to the Group’s
business and operations include the Electricity Ordinance, Security
and Guarding Services Ordinance, Building (Minor Works) Regulation,
Construction Industry Council Ordinance and the Subcontractor
Registration Scheme. During the Reporting Year and up to the Date
of this Report, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the Reporting Year and up to the Date of this Report. The Group
has complied with all relevant requirements including financial, technical,
management and personal criteria applicable to each respective laws and
regulations.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Employees

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed 179 employees. We
maintained a good working relationship with our employees and we
did not experience any labour disputes during the Reporting Year.
Recruitment in the M&E engineering service industry is highly competitive,
especially with respect to the recruitment of qualified engineering staff.
We believe we are hiring high-quality employees in the market by offering
competitive wages and benefits and comprehensive training opportunities.
We have facilitated the recruitment through a variety of channels, such
as newspapers, internet websites, recruitment agencies, career talks and
internal referrals. We believe our continuous efforts will help us attract
suitable personnel.

Customers

Our customers mainly comprise mass transportation companies and
other engineering companies in Hong Kong and Taiwan and also various
departments of the Hong Kong Government. We maintain business
relationship with our largest customer since year 1978. We usually enter
into agreements with our customers on project basis and the majority of
such contracts have term over one year. Most of our project contracts are
fixed price contracts. The lump sum price is usually determined based on
factors including project requirements and estimated cost of materials,
labour and time required for completion of the projects.

Suppliers

The Group sources equipment, parts and components from our suppliers.
The principal materials and equipment used by our M&E engineering
business include LED Lights, steel and copper parts, switchboards, and
various mechanical equipment. Most of these materials and equipment
are sourced from local suppliers or imported mainly from China, Britain
and Taiwan.

We also engage subcontractors to perform certain contract works. These
subcontractors are mainly located in Hong Kong.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years is set out on page 132 of this Report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the Reporting Year, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers
accounted for approximately 90.6% (2023: approximately 90.4%) of the
Group’s total revenue and the sales to its largest customer accounted for
approximately 79.6% (2023: approximately 74.6%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the Reporting Year, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 50.2% (2023: approximately 39.1%) of the
Group’s total purchases and the purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 10.9% (2023: approximately 10.4%) of the
Group’s total purchases.

During the Reporting Year, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of the
Company) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Reporting Year are set out on pages 130 and 63 of this Report
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders amounted to approximately HK$18.7 million
(2023: approximately HK$21.0 million), comprising an accumulated
loss of approximately HK$2.9 million and share premium amounting to
approximately HK$21.6 million.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has HK$15.0 million (2023: nil)
outstanding bank borrowings.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Year and up to the Date of this Report
are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Luk Kam Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (Chief Executive Officer, appointed on 7 August 2023)
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung
Mr. Chan Chak Lun, Philip (Retired on 7 August 2023)
(former Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. Tse Chi Kong

Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry (Retired on 7 August 2023)

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), at each AGM one-third of the
Directors (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an AGM at
least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of Members after his appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular to be despatched to the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 15-20 of this Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent during the Reporting Year and remain so as
at the Date of this Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years and will continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with terms of the agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed the letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which may be
renewable subject to both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service agreement/letter of appointment
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

=
NREFENEEAREAY B

HITES

PEEEARSE A (7E)

PEERSL A (THREE  R-T-=FN\ALARET)
BEEE LS

BROZEE LA (N2 =F/)\BLRRD) FTHREER)

BAKHITES

BB EAE

FEXERAE

SEREL
BXEEERZE_=F N\ A+ HEE)

REBEARBEMSRMA ((ASTRMAA]) E84(1)k - 1
BERRBFRE L =02 —EF(AMEFABALI=0)
BEEE  RIAREIE B MER =02 —M AR B ER
T EREEFARVB=FERRBERG LHFRE—

R e

RIBARREREIZMANESIQ) G - NEBFSREINE
HERERENES EREHAZARERERREA
FREL MEMERERZBRRAG LEREE - M
BEEERENENMRTESSFUZENEEZEHES
$§ﬁ?@%$ﬁ¢ﬁ§t*Eﬁ*ﬁ%%$%é§%§
BIET -

RERBEFAE LEERNERFIBTRIINBEFETRR

ESNEREERE

RAREERERERENBEFBHINAREE15E
208 °

BYFHTESHIMER

RIFGEM LR AIES.0916 - AR B D EERELIFATT
EENFEBIMRARARRRRZSEENEERS
FEHBE MNARE B RREEIE -

ESNBRBHEREER

ERTEECHARART D AP =FORBHHE - £
B SEEEEREGIGRELERL -

BBUFATEFERARARIT —HARAB=FNET
K AT EEAE -

EEMETUASE N R —FALRNMNEE OCEERER
CIONITE SN 53 Ve S

SHNREEERAT « ZT-=/ZNFFH

25



26

Report of Directors
EEEWRE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”
on page 37 and the related party transactions as set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Year, no contract of significance in respect
of provision of services or otherwise was entered into between the
Company or its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders or his/her/its
subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Year and up to the Date of this Report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure for all remuneration of the directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, and the five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Year are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”))
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), which were recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(CONTINUED)

ESREFRTRAEBRKRSD - AR RERSNESZR
wE ()

Number
of Shares / Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held/ Long/short  shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest interested position® the Company (%)®
e ol
BB RAEDREFR
®E B RmitE HERGHE Ha A BB D (%)@
Mr. KM Luk® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 38.77
PR S A0 EmMAA  iBER
Mr. KL Luk® Interest in controlled corporation 138,000,000 L 34.08
ReZ= B S 0 R AR
Mr. YC Luk®@® Interest in controlled corporation; 139,000,000 L 34.32
interest of spouse
FEER LN X EE R - BLBER
Notes. Hist -
(1) Mr. KM Luk directly holds 100,000,000 Shares. Since Mr. KM Luk is the spouse of (1) B BT 7% 4 B 455 100,000,00082 817 o H1 R EESE BASE 4 B2

Madam Leung, Mr. KM Luk is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Madam Leung is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is
57,000,000 Shares.

2) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings
Limited (“KML Holdings’), representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML
Holdings carrying voting rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk are deemed to be
interested in all Shares in which KML Holdings is interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares.

3) Since Mr. YC Luk is the spouse of Madam Woo, Mr. YC Luk is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Madam Woo s interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 1,000,000 Shares.

4) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(%) As at 31 March 2024, the total number of issued Shares were 404,960,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) that was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO:

FERRRROREBRONWERR LR

RZZE-_WNF=A=+—H  REBEAEM U TALGE
IFEBHARREETHA L) RAR R B EAR (H #
BAREMRE GES KB KD 533614 AF B rZ it
FrEc s iR IR (5 R EAE 150D BEXVER B2 K 37 SR IE XA
MR R MR TR ENERIOAR

Number of
Shares/ Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held/ Long/short  shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest interested position® the Company (%)®©
s BB
EEBG, RAED AR
"L B RmitE HERGHE BB KA BB D (%)©
KML Holdings Beneficial owner 138,000,000 L 34.08
KML Holdings!" EnEEA
Madam Leung® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 38.77
Rirt+e EnEAA ISR
Ms. Chan Patricia® Interest of spouse 138,000,000 L 34.08
FRIMG L+ iRkt
Madam Woo® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 139,000,000 L 34.32
[ Eequ il BEREAA - IEER
Notes: Biat -

(1) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings,
representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML Holdings carrying voting
rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk also own approximately 50% and approximately
50%, respectively, of the issued preferred shares in KML Holdings which do not
carry voting rights but only rights to dividends.

2) Madam Leung is the spouse of Mr. KM Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Leung
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KM Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, and vice versa.

3) Ms. Chan Patricia is the spouse of Mr. KL Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Chan
Patricia is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KL Luk is
interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO.

“4) Madam Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Woo is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. YC Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares. Madam
Woo directly holds 300,000 Shares and was interested as a grantee of options to
subscribe for up to 700,000 Shares under the Share Option Scheme (announced
on 2 January 2020 and 18 April 2023).

(%) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(6) As at 31 March 2024, the total number of issued Shares were 404,960,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time during the
Reporting Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

SHARE SCHEMES

The Company has adopted two share schemes, namely, (1) the Share
Option Scheme and (2) the Share Award Scheme (as defined below).

The total number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all share schemes of the Company during the
Reporting Year divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
for the Reporting Year was 3.5%.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the directors
and employees of the Group have made or may make to the Group, the
Company approved and adopted the share option scheme pursuant to
the written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 20 September 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarised below:

(@) the Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant an option to subscribe any director or employee
of the Group, from time to time on the basis of his/her contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of the
Group;

(o)  the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 40,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of adoption and approximately 9.9%
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report;

(c) the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his/her close associates abstaining from
voting;

(d) an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof;
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(e) an offer for the grant of options must be accepted within three
business days from the date of offer. The amount payable by the
eligible persons of an option to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of an option is HK$10;

(M) the subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to an eligible person and
shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (ji)) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option; and

(@@  the Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing on 16 October 2017 (the “Listing Date”)
and shall expire at the close of business on the business day
immediately preceding the 10th anniversary thereof unless
terminated earlier by the Shareholders in a general meeting. As
at the Date of this Report, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme is approximately 3 years and 3 months.

On 2 January 2020, the Company granted 9,800,000 share options
(“Options”) to certain eligible participants (the “Grantee(s)”), subject to
acceptance by the Grantees, to subscribe for Shares with nominal value
of HK$0.01 each of the Company under the Share Option Scheme.
Among the Options granted, 2,000,000 Options were granted to Mr. CL
Chan, a former director, 700,000 Options were granted to Ms. Wai Hang
Ying Helen, a former director of a subsidiary of the Company and 300,000
Options were granted to Madam Woo, Company Secretary, a director of
a subsidiary of the Company and an associate to a Director.

The estimated fair value of the above 9,800,000 Options granted was
approximately HK$1,057,000, which was calculated by using the binomial
option pricing model based on following inputs.

During the Reporting Year, 9,000,000 Options have been granted.
Among the Options granted, 1,000,000 Options were granted to Mr.
CL Chan, a former director of the Company, and 400,000 Options were
granted to Madam Woo, Company Secretary, a director of a subsidiary
of the Company and an associate to a Director. The fair value of the
equity-settled Options granted under the Share Option Scheme during
the Reporting Year is estimated at HK$292,000 and is to be expensed
through the Group’s income statement over the two-year vesting period
of the Options.

The estimated fair value of the Options were determined in accordance
with the valuation performed by an independent valuer using the binomial
option pricing model based on following inputs. The value of the Options is
subject to certain fundamental limitations, including the subjective nature
of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the expected
future performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of
the model itself. The expected volatility was determined with reference to
the historical daily volatilities of the Share price of the Company. The risk
free rate was determined with reference to the prevailing rates on debt
securities as reference from Thomson Reuters and Bloomberg L.P.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) MBI e & ()
Date of grant 18 April 2023 2 January 2020
R AH “E-=FMA+NH —2-ZH-AZH
Share price at grant date HK$0.166 HK$0.250
R B B AR (B8 0.16678 7T 0.2507 7T
Exercise price HK$0.171 HK$0.259
1IEE 017137t 0.2597% 7T
Expected volatility 50.35% 54.96%
L] 50.35% 54.96%
Expected life 5 years from the date of Grant 5 years from the date of grant
TREREFHR BREBEEBEA RS BRE B R RS
Risk-free rate 3.00% 2.056%
1 [ B A 2 3.00% 2.056%
Expected dividend Yield 13.51% 0%
TEHARR B & 13.51% 0%
Exercise multiple 2.xto 3.x 2.X
I{EES 2.x10 3.x 2.x
Details regarding the number of Options, date of grant, vesting period, B ZE_EF—A BN _ZE_=FNA+ \BFELE
exercise period and exercise price of the Options granted on 2 January ferE R ESE BHEBE - BEH - (TEEHRTEE
2020 and 18 April 2023 are set out below: ZEEEEYT
Closing price
immediately
Date of Number of Exercise price before date
Name of participants Options granted  Options granted Vesting period Exercise period of Options of grant
2R SERLAS
SREMR RHBRERS BREYA BES TEH  BRETRE AZUHE
HKS per Share HKS per Share
/R /i
Mr. CL Chan( 2 January 2020 2,000,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.250
(Former Director and Chief executive officer) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
RERLED “RCTE-fACH “R°T5-AZAE  ZTT-%£tA-HEZ
(FEsRT0e) “Z--%~A=1A “2onE-A-H
18 Apri 2023 500,000 18 April 2023 18 Aprl 2024 0.471 0.166
to 17 April 2024 to 17 April 2028
ZZCEEMATAA “EZ-#NA+N\RE ZZ-NEMATNAE
ZZZMENAHEA 3 \FMAT++A
18 April 2023 500,000 18 April 2023 15 October 2024 0.171 0.166
to 14 October 2024 to 17 April 2028
“ZCZERATIE “Z--EMA+\RE ZE-RETATRAZ
“E-RETATEA —E-/\EEA+LA
Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen 2 January 2020 700,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.250
(Former director of KML Engineering) t0 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
%WﬁﬁiT “RCTE-fACH “R°TE-AZHAE  ZT--%£tA-HEZ
(BRMRIRITES) ZE--¥RAZ1A “3-RfF-A-A

EHNREEERAT « —ZT=
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) MBS E (F)
Closing price
immediately
Date of Number of Exercise price before date
Name of participants Options granted ~ Options granted Vesting period Exercise period of Options of grant
2R SEELAH
SRENR RHBRERS BhREYE HRE s BRETRE HZHmE
HKS per Share HKS per Share
/R /|
Madam Woo 2 January 2020 300,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.250
(Company Secretary) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
e “E-%5-A-A :§‘§¢ A-RE  -B--%tB-RZE
(REHE) —Z--%~A=1A ZZ-R%-A-A
18 April 2023 200,000 18 April 2023 18 April 2024 0.171 0.166
to 17 April 2024 to 17 April 2028
ZZ-=%¥mA+N\A “E-CEMAT\HE  ZE-MEMAHNAE
ZZ-MENAHEA T \FMAT++A
18 April 2023 200,000 18 April 2023 15 October 2024 0.171 0.166
to 4 Qctober 2024 to 17 Apri 2028
ZZZ=F¥mATNA “E-CEMATN\HE  ZE-RETAtEAZE
“Z-METATEA ZE-\EEATLA
Other employees 2 January 2020 3,500,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2020 0.259 0.250
t0 30 June 2020 to 1 January 2025
EfbEE “2-TE-ACR Z3°3F-ACAE “T-THtA-HE
“ERCTERACTH “2-n5-A-H
2 January 2020 3,300,000 2 January 2020 2 January 2021 0.259 0.250
to 1 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
“2CEF-ACA Z3-2F-AZAE ZZZ-§-A=A%
“2--%-8-H ZECRE-A-H
18 April 2023 3,800,000 18 April 2023 18 Aprl 2024 0171 0.166
to 17 April 2024 to 17 April 2028
“E-=%¥mA+N\A “ZCZEEAH\RE  —E-MERATARE
ZZ-mENAHEA ZZZ\§EAT++A
18 April 2023 3,800,000 18 April 2023 15 October 2024 0.171 0.166
to 14 October 2024 to 17 April 2028
“ZCZERATIA “ZF-=fNA+\RE —Z-NF+ATHAZ
“Z-METAEE —E-\EMATLA
Total 18,800,000
e
Notes: Hat -
(1) Mr. CL Chan retired as the Director and ceased to be the chief executive officer (1) BOEB AL —E - —F \ A HERTEERTHELLR
of the Company starting from 7 August 2023. He remains as a director of KML BITTECAER - RE (TR THEE -
Engineering.
@) Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen resigned as the director of KML Engineering on 29 @) BHERL TR -ZFE=—F+— A=+ NWAFEEHERIETELY

EF oRHgF T

November 2021. The share options granted to Ms. Wai were forfeited upon her F=A=+—HIFERTFEHLLHE

departure during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The following table sets forth movements in the Options during the
Reporting Year:

S B 8 ()
TREFN RS F AR

Number of
Outstanding as at Number of Number of Number of Options lapsed/  Outstanding as at
Name of participants 1 April 2023 Options granted  Options exercised ~ Options cancelled forfeited 31 March 2024
RZBZ=f RZBZmE
mAE—A ERE (X3 [BE: BM/BRY =ZR=t-H
SRENE i RATHE BREHA BREHE BREHE BREHE e RATHE
Mr. CL Chan 2,000,000 1,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
(Former Director and
chief executive officer)
BEREE
(MESRITHER)
Madam Woo 300,000 400,000 = = = 700,000
(Company Secretary)
e,
(RAEIME)
Employees 3,700,000 7,600,000 = = (2,800,000) 8,500,000
&8
Total 6,000,000 9,000,000 - - (2,800,000) 12,200,000
st

As at the Date of this Report, taking into account 28,000,000 share
options had been granted, the maximum number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted is 12,000,000, representing approximately
3.0% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report.

The number of share options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 was 21,000,000 options
and 12,000,000 options respectively.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 5 November 2018 (the “Adoption Date”). Subject to any
early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 15 years commencing on
the Adoption Date. Please refer to the announcement dated 5 November
2018 for details. The principles of Share Award Scheme are summarised
below:

(@) Purpose of the scheme
The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to
recognise and reward the contribution of certain eligible persons
for the growth and development of the Group and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (i) to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group.

HEARRERH 5RO H28,000,0008 58 H# - AT%
HEERENSSME R A12,000,0000% @ EEEARRE
AHIE B TR D 4280 493.0%

R_E_=FNA—BR_E_MFE=A=+—H " B
FERR AT S P (R B A BB IR EL B £ 51 421,000,00017
P4 K2 12,000,00017 B BEHE o

IR 47 22 b=t &I

RRARRZZE—N\E+—ARE ([FM B RH—ER
DR E (RO RMETE]) - Befn 2B &I B 5RA B
HREY  ARMATHF  EFGDRAERAKL -5
BE B2HRER TR \F+—AEANQE - K
0 EERpET BIR R AR AT

(@ FrEIZA®
Bin @ BB MR B ERNEE REMFES
BERATHARENERRERAERR - LRK
EREHBARERSERARENFELERERE
BELD  R)RASENE-SERREESEE A
oo

SHNREEERAT « ZT-=/ZNFFH
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

U]

(9)

Eligibility of Participant in the scheme
The eligible person under the Share Award Scheme is:

(i) any employee of the Group;

(ii) any executive director or non-executive director (including
any independent non-executive director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity;

(iii) any customer of the Group or any invested entity;

(iv)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any invested entity;

(V) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any invested
entity;

(viy  any shareholder of any member of the Group or any invested
entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member
of the Group or any invested entity;

(vii)  any person or entity which has contributed to the Group or
its business; and

(viii)  any other person selected by the Board at its sole discretion.

Total number of shares available of issue under the scheme
As at the Date of this Report, a maximum number of Shares that
can be issued and allotted are 32,665,000 Shares, being 8.1% of
the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of passing of the
resolution granting the general mandate at 2023 AGM.

Maximum entitlement of each selected participant

The total number of awarded Shares (including granted and non-
vested Shares) granted to a selected participant under the scheme
in any 12-month period shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time.

Vesting period of award shares under the scheme

The awarded Shares to which such selected participant is
entitled under the relevant award shall be vested in such selected
participant as soon as practicable after the vesting date. The award
Shares granted typically shall vest in selected participant within
three years from the date of grant.

Consideration and purchase price

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, there were granted to the
grantees at nil consideration and were or will be transferred to the
grantees upon vesting at nil consideration.

The basis of determining the purchase price of share award
The purchase price for such purchases shall not be higher than the
lower of the following: (i) the closing market price on the date of
such purchase; and (i) the average closing market price for the five
preceding trading days on which the Shares were traded on the
Stock Exchange.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(h) Life of scheme
Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
term of 15 years commencing on the Adoption Date. As at the Date
of this Report, the remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is
approximately nine years and four months.

During the Reporting Year, no awarded Shares (2023: 2,460,000 awarded
Shares) were granted to employees of KML Engineering. As at 31 March
2024, 7,335,000 and 4,475,000 awarded Shares were granted and
vested to employee respectively.

The number of share awards available for grant under the Share Award
Scheme as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 was 32,665,000 Shares
and 32,665,000 Shares respectively.

Details regarding the date of grant, the vesting period, the closing prices
of Shares, the fair value of awarded Shares, the movements of awarded
Shares granted, vested, forfeited or cancelled during the Reporting Year,
and the number of awarded Shares unvested as at 31 March 2024 are as
follows:

Bt B2 et I ()

(h) FrEIHIR
B SRR ST 2 B R B B AR - BRI A 154E
BEEZSADRTRAAL - RAREEH - BiHE
EEr B FISBRAOANEZMER -

EREFEAN ARV ERSHAREIEZESETHE
BhR% {5 (2023: 2,460,000/% #EEIA% 1) - K= —PF = A
=-+—H - 7,335,000% #2ENA% {5 4,475,0008% LEEI AR (D E
DRETREEBNES -

AR-E-=FA-—HBR-Z-_NF=ZA=+—8 - RiE
A& 19 2T 81 AT 5 AU A% 15 Bk B 9 51l A£32,665,000% 1%
7 52.32,665,0000% [ 7 °

FARHLEH  BBH - RHKTHE  BERHAIAE -
RBEFEDRE - B8 - RWSGEHIHRER D E AR
RZE_MF=ZA=1+T—HARGERBROEEH W
™

Weighted
Closing Price Number of average closing
of the Shares Fair value Number of Number of Numberof  awarded Shares Number of price of Shares
immediately ofawarded  awarded Shares  awarded Shares  awarded Shares Forfeited/  awarded Shares immediately
Category before the Sharesonthe  unvestedasat  granted during vestedduring  Cancelled during  unvested as at Vesting hefore the
of Participants  Date of grant date of grant date of grant 1 April 2023 the year the year theyear 31 March 2024 Period vesting date
RBZZE e 1
BA-A £ ZR=t1-H SEERE
BERLAE WRHRHCEE 58 ERERT EREEE BRY/ i #ER BEARAH
SEE5H RERH ARMHETE  BONAAE  BRERGER ZERREA RERAHE  CHRERGER  CRERGER 88 METHNGE
Other employees 6 July 2020 022 022 180,000 (180,000 - - 23years 0.2
HitER ZECRFLARR pEXE
Other employees 5 July 2021 0.38 0.39 1210000 (870,000 (75,000 25000 2-3years? 039
Ll ZE--FtAEA 25350
Other employees 26 August 2022 0.19 020 2,360,000 (780,000 (150,000) 1430000 2-3years® 0.19
HitER ZEZZANAZTAR 25350
Total 3,750,000 (1,830,000) (225,000 1,695,000
&t
Notes: BT
(1) 1,750,000 shares was granted on 6 July 2020. For 1,050,000 awarded Shares 1) RoB-—FEL ANAET,750,00008881 - #E T

granted, the relevant vesting period is 2 years as from the date of grant. For
700,000 awarded Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 3 years as from
the date of grant.

2) 2,375,000 shares was granted on & July 2021. For 1,625,000 awarded Shares
granted, the relevant vesting period is 2 years as from the date of grant. For
850,000 awarded Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 3 years as from
the date of grant.

3 2,460,000 shares was granted on 26 August 2022. For 1,410,000 awarded
Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 2 years as from the date of grant. For
1,000,000 awarded Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 3 years as from
the date of grant. 50,000 awarded Shares have not been allotted.

“4) Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, share awards were granted to the grantees
at nil consideration and were or will be transferred to the grantees upon vesting at
nil consideration.

1,050, 0008 SRR 15T = - KBS /5154 L ATEA 124 o
SEEFEF #9700, 000RIIIRG T 5 - 1ABE B AIES B HiE
#a% -

2) R-ZFEZ—F+ARARKT2375 000 K% - BEERTH)
1,625,000 IR 5T & - BB S/ AR 29 -
$EE KT 49850,000 RER G % - KIBEBA B F A0
#as -

3) RoFE = =4 )| =+ A T2,460,000/R 5817 ° tE 15787
1,410,000/% 22@1R 17T & - 1B 57 /8 B /3 12 1 H BIREGT2F -
BEEFR T£71,000,0000 ZEIR (7T 5 - 16E5HEHBRL HH
FEFF3EE - IAEAAT50,00002E/RT7

() RIFR 7 f)at &) - 17 BEIC R FRERTARALRE
RIEFREERTHFRA

EHAREEERAT « —B-=/“NEER

35



36

Report of Directors
EEERE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme as set out
in this Report, no equity-linked agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares, or that requiring the Company to enter into an
agreement that would or might result in the Company issuing Shares, was
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Except as disclosed in the section headed ‘Directors and Senior
Management’ in this Report, there was no change to any of the
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the
GEM Listing Rules since the publication of the 2023 interim report of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 20 September 2017 (the
“Deed of Non-competition”) entered into by the Group and Mr. KM Luk,
Madam Leung, Mr. KL Luk, Mr. YC Luk and KML Holdings (collectively,
the “Controlling Shareholders”) and as covenators (collectively, the
“Covenators”), each of the Covenators has irrevocably and unconditionally
undertaken to and covenanted with the Company (for itself and as trustee
for its subsidiaries) that, subject to the exceptions as described in the
Prospectus dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”), during the
period that the Deed of Non-Competition remains effective, he/she/it shall
not, and shall procure that his/her/its associates (other than any members
of the Group) will not, during the term of the Deed of Non-Competition,
directly or indirectly, either for his/her/its own account or in conjunction
with or on behalf of or for any other person, firm or company, whether
for profit, reward or otherwise, (i) carry on, participate in, be interested or
engaged in, or acquire or hold any right or interest (in each case whether
as a shareholder, partner, agent, consultant, employee or otherwise)
directly or indirectly in any business which is or likely to be in competition
with the business currently from time to time engaged by the Group (the
“Restricted Business”) in Hong Kong, Taiwan and any other country or
jurisdiction which any member of the Group provides such services and/
or in which any member of the Group carries on its business currently and
from time to time (the “Territory”); (ii) solicit, interfere with or endeavour to
entice away from any member of the Group any person, firm, company or
organisation who to his/her/its knowledge is now or has been a customer,
supplier, subcontractor or employee of any member of the Group in the
past twelve months before such proposed engagement or employment;
or (iii) without prior written consent of the Company, make use of any
information pertaining to the business, which have or may have come to
his/her/its knowledge in his/her/its capacity as a Controlling Shareholder
and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its capacity as a Controlling
Shareholder and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its engaging,
investing or participating in any Restricted Business in the Territory. For
details of the above, please refer to the Prospectus.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING (CONTINUED)

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition respectively during the Reporting Year for disclosure in this
Report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed of Non-
competition during the Reporting Year and based on the information and
confirmation provided by or obtained from the Controlling Shareholders
and they were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have duly
complied with the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this Report, during the Reporting Year, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Year, the Group entered into certain connected
transactions with the connected person of the Company, namely K M L
Limited.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Tenancy Agreement

KML Engineering, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant
entered into a tenancy agreement on 31 March 2023 (the “Tenancy
Agreement”) with K M L Limited as landlord in respect of Workshop
12 on G/F of Block B, Workshop 5 on 1/F with Flat Roof of Block B,
Workshops 7, 9, 10 and 11 on 1/F of Block B, Workshop 7 on 3/F with
Flat Roof of Block B and Car Parking Spaces numbered V20, V25, L33,
L37 and L39, Shatin Industrial Centre, Nos. 5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit, Shatin,
New Territories, Hong Kong (the “Premises”) for a term of 18 months
from 1 April 2023 to 30 September 2024 (both days inclusive).

K M L Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and owned as
to 78.2% by Golden Sail International Limited (“Golden Sail”), which is
wholly-owned by a trustee for a family trust where the beneficiaries include
Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung. Therefore, K M L Limited is an associate
of each of Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung, and hence is a connected
person of the Company.

The Group has been leasing the Premises from K M L Limited as its head
office and workshops in Hong Kong for more than 30 years. The Company
considers that it would be beneficial to lease the Premises as it will enable
the Group to secure its stable operation at the Premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and relocating
to alternative premises and ensure that there will be no disruption to the
operations, business and growth of the Group. The Directors believe that
the entering of this Tenancy Agreement is necessary for the continuous use
of the premises by KML Engineering and the growth and operations of the
Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (CONTINUED)

Tenancy Agreement (continued)

Save as disclosed in this Report, during the Reporting Year, the Company
had no connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
which fell to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions.

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
and in compliance with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

LITIGATIONS

As at the Date of this Report, neither the Company nor any other
member of the Group was engaged in any litigation or claims of material
importance known to the Directors to be pending or threatened against
any member of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors and senior officers of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or officer shall be liable for any loss, damages or
misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance coverage
for the Directors and officers of the Company for the Reporting Year.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Up to the Date of this Report, there were no subsequent events after the
Reporting Year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) had,
together with the management, reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements
for the Reporting Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 40 to 55 of this Report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. YC Luk, whose biographical
details are set out on page 16 The company secretary is Madam Woo
who satisfies the qualification requirement under Rules 5.14 and 11.07
of the GEM Listing Rules as the Company Secretary. Madam Woo’s
biographical details are set out on page 20 of this Report.
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Directors

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as at the Date of this Report as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young were appointed as the Auditors for the Reporting Year. The
accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards have been audited by Ernst & Young.

On behalf of the Board

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. During
the Reporting Year, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions in Part 2 of the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the Risk Management Committee
(together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the
Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

All Directors had carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of
legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be reviewed
on an annual basis.

Board Composition
As at the Date of this Report, the Board comprises three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. LUK Kam Ming
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAU On Kwok

Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. TSE Chi Kong

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this Report.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Year, the Board has met at all times the requirements
under Rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with
at least one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.
Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy to ensure
that the Company will, when determining the composition of the Board,
consider Board diversity in terms of, among other things, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

The Company has received the confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors about his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company considers all of them to be
independent.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this Report, none of the
Directors have any personal relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other Directors
and the chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Risk Management Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments as well as the identity of the public
companies or organisations and the time involved to the Company, the
Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments and any subsequent
change to the Company in a timely manner.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Group’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides regular updates on latest development and changes in the GEM
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge his duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated
and provided the Directors with written training materials relating to the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

The professional trainings of the Directors during the Reporting Year are as
follows:
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Directors Type of trainings
o IR
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. LUK Kam Ming REE AR A B
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung FEERAE A B
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung EEEEE A B
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip (retired on 7 August 2023)  BR:ZE%E4+E (R -_=F N\A+LHEMD A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUKHTES

Mr. LAU On Kwok ZBH & E A B
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen KESRE A B
Dr. TSE Chi Kong S W 1 £ A B
Mr. YU Wing Lok Garry (retired on 7 August 2023) FoKFEERZZE=FNALAHED A B

Notes:
A: Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums ana/or briefings
B: Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, director’s duties and

responsibilities, listing rules and other relevant ordinances
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company
are currently two separate positions held by Mr. KM Luk and Mr. KL
Luk, respectively, with clear distinction in responsibilities. Mr. KM Luk
is responsible for devising strategies for the continuous development of
the Group, overseeing the Group’s business operations and financial
performance, as well as leading the Board in performing its functions while
Mr. KL Luk is responsible for managing the overall business development
and executing business strategies of the Group.
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years and will continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with terms of the agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed the letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which may be
renewable subject to both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service agreement / letter of appointment
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election
of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED STANDARD OF
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions in the securities of the
Company.

The Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors about their
compliance with the required standard of dealings for the Reporting Year,
without noticing any violation of the required standard.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, risk management and internal control systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors are provided with sufficient
resources to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(d)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
on such matters;

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

[} to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at
least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of
not less than 14 days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
despatched to the Directors or Board Committees members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make
their views known to the chairman of the Board or the relevant Board
Committees prior to the meeting. Minutes of the meetings are kept by the
company secretary with copies circulated to all Directors to the relevant
Board Committees members for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings are
recorded in sufficient details about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors or the Board Committees members.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are
sent to the Directors or the Board Committees members for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committees are open for
inspection by Directors.
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BOARD MEETINGS (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Year, four board meetings and one general meeting
were held and the attendance of each Director at these meetings is set
out in the table below:

g {6 )
RREFE - HBETOAEEEEER —ABRRAE - &
EFRUEERNHREBERER TR -

Board meeting(s) General meeting(s)

Directors Attended/Held Attended/Held
SE TEeIT BHE BE8T
=X EEEER BERE
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. LUK Kam Ming RS AR o 4/4 1/1
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung PRt 4/4 1/1
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BEEE 4/4 11
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip (Note) B 5 A (17 2/2 11
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFPITES :
Mr. LAU On Kwok 2 H & E 4/4 11
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen BKESRE 4/4 il
Dr. TSE Chi Kong S 18 £ 3/4 11
Mr. YU Wing Lok Garry (Note) TR A (B5E) 2/2 1/1

Note:  Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip and Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry retired as executive director
and as an independent non-executive Director respectively on 7 August 2023 and
there were two Board Meetings held before their retirement during the Reporting
Year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. LAU On
Kwok (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE Chi Kong, all of
them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to review the relationship with the Auditor by reference to the work
performed by the Auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the Auditor;

(b) to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the Auditor before submission to the Board;
and

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems and associated procedures, including the adequacy of the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Company's ESG
performance and reporting.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee had five meetings and two of the meetings with the
Company’s external auditor during the Reporting Year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Audit Committee (continued)
During the Reporting Year, the Audit Committee discussed and reviewed
on the following matters:

() the audit plan for the Reporting Year;

(b) the final results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
as well as the audit report prepared by the Auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in course of audit;

() the financial reporting system, compliance procedures, (including
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function), and the re-appointment of the Auditor;

(d)  the quarterly results of the Group for three months ended 30 June
2023; and

(e) the interim results of the Group for six months ended 30 September
2028.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Mr. LUK Kam Ming (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE
Chi Kong, the majority of the committee is comprised by independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Policy on Directors Nomination

The Company has adopted a nomination policy stating the process
and criteria to select and recommend candidates for directorship
during the Reporting Year. In identifying suitable candidate qualified to
become Board members, the Nomination Committee shall consider the
attributes complementary to the Board, business experience and Board
Expertise and skills, availability, motivation, integrity and independence of
candidates.

During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee had two meetings
to discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board on the
following matters:

() the appointment of a new chief executive officer;

(o)  the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board;

(c) the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
(d)  the re-appointments of the retiring Directors.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, a summary of which is
set out below:

() with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development;

(o) in designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(c) all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

(d)  selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board;

(e) the Nomination Committee will report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the board diversity
policy; and

) the Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy
annually, to ensure the effectiveness of the board diversity policy.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

During the Reporting Year, the Board, through the Nomination Committee,
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity
policy and confirm that the Board has an appropriate mix of skills and
experience to deliver the Company’s strategy.

The Board is comprised of six male Directors. The Nomination Committee
has formulated a gender diversity plan for the Board, recommending the
appointment of at least one female director no later than 31 December
2024. The Company will use its best endeavours to ensure the principle
of board and gender diversity is integrated into the recruitment processes
of suitable candidates for the Board and of the Company’s employees to
ensure there shall be a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and
to its workforce while maintaining the existing board and gender diversity.

Of the 179 employees (including senior management) of the Group as at
31 March 2024, 33 are female. Accordingly, the Company considers that
gender diversity is also achieved in its workforce generally.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the Independent
non-executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assess the Directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
Independent non-executive Directors including the following:

(@) required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to
fulfill their roles;

(b)  time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

(c) firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

(d) declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent non-
executive Directors;

(e) no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any
relationship or circumstances which would affect the exercise of

their independent judgement; and

(f) the Chairman meets with the Independent non-executive Directors
regularly without the presence of the Executive Directors.

All Directors are entitled to seek advice the independent professional
advisors at the Company’s expenses.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Dr. TSE Chi Kong (chairman), Mr. LAU On Kwok and Mr. LUK Kam Ming,
the majority of the committee is comprised by independent non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives determined by
the Board, and assess performance of executive Directors and the
terms of their service agreements;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
These include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration; and

to ensure that share options/share awards offered by the Company
or its principal subsidiary (if any) are in accordance with Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules, as applicable.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee had two
meetings to discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board on
the following matters:

(@)

Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company;

the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors of the
Company; and

Company's share schemes.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
individuals during the Reporting Year are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the
CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management

ESZEE (@

EERSREERHFMH

RBEFE - EFRALRSFTMALOFHFBRTIRN
R MBIRRMES - RIBEEEATRFRIEXEEAS
- HFABHENRESFENRNFRIEZTRINEE
Bl— ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%‘i&afﬁlﬁﬁié(’ﬂﬁﬂﬂwg P EERINRE

(including Company Secretary and excluding the Directors) whose B4R RIE 2 B0 Zr S S AT

particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior

Management” in this Report for the Reporting Year by band is set out

below:

Remuneration band (in HK$) Number of individuals
FENAR B (B T) A
Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 ~iB3B1,000,0007 7T 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001# 721,500,000/ 7T 2
Risk Management Committee RREEZE®

The Risk Management Committee comprises four members, namely Mr.
LAW Wing Chi Stephen (chairman), Mr. LAU On Kwok, Mr. LUK Kwai
Lung and Mr. LUK Yin Cheung.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee include the
following:

(@)

to review the Group’s risk management system, including risk,
capital and liquidity management framework, the Group’s risk
tolerance capability, its risk policies and standards, and relevant
risk limits, including the parameters used and the methodology
adopted, and the processes used for identifying and assessing
risks;

to approve risk policies and standards, referring any new material
policies/standards or material changes to existing policies/
standards/limits to the Board for approval;

to discuss the risk management system with the management
and ensure that the management has performed its duties to
establish an effective system. The contents to be discussed
include the Company’s resources for risk management, adequacy
of qualifications and experiences of the employees, as well as
adequacy of training courses and relevant budgets available to the
employees;

to review material risk exposures of the Group, including market,
credit, insurance, operational, liquidity, and economic and regulatory
capital risks against the Group’s risk measurement methodologies
and management actions to monitor and control such exposures;

to review annually the changes, since the last annual review, in the
nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG risks), and the
Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; and

to review annually the effectiveness of the Company’s processes
for financial reporting and compliance of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Risk Management Committee (continued)
The written terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee are

ESZEE (@

ﬂﬁ”ﬁ?a (#

R EIEL 8 & w0 E R 0 E B P R AR RS A]

available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. mﬁ B o
The Risk Management Committee had one meeting during the Reporting RBEFE  RREEZESRIT AR JmkEH
Year to discuss and review the risk management policy, internal control JE IEB(% AEEEIEFM - REEZATE - AHEX
manual, internal audit plan, internal audit report, risk management and s - BT M ANEREIEHE o
internal control systems.
ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS BOARD ESHERESZESETENER
COMMITTEE MEETINGS
Number of meetings attended/held
HE/BITERRE
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk

Committee Committee Committee Management
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Committee Meeting
= EVZEEER REZEE8E FHZEEEE REREEZEEEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. LUK Kam Ming PESE AR S A - 2/2 2/2 -
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung EERILE - - - 1/1
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BEEYEE - - = 1/1
Mr. GHAN Chak Lun Philip (Notg) BR=BE S (M) = = - 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIEHTES
Mr. LAU On Kwok ARE % E 5/5 - 2/2 11
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen BXEXE 5/5 2/2 - 1/1
Dr. TSE Chi Kong R RIELT 4/5 1/2 1/2 -
Mr. YU Wing Lok Garry (Note) FAKBERTE (H7E) - 11 - 1/1

Note:  Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip and Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry retired as executive director
and as an independent non-executive Director respectively on 7 August 2023.
Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry was ceased to be a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee on 7 August 2023 and there was
one Nomination Committee meeting held prior to his retirement.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the Reporting Year which give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Group’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concemn.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 56 to 60 of this Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its responsibility to ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains sound risk management and internal
control systems within the Group and to review the effectiveness of
the systems. Such systems are designed to manage and mitigate risks
inherent in the Group’s business faced by the Group to an acceptable
level, but not eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement,
loss or fraud.

The Board has entrusted the Risk Management Committee with the
responsibility to oversee the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness of
the systems annually. The annual review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure,
the management is responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of risk management and internal control systems to
ensure, amongst others, (i) appropriate policies and control procedures
have been designed and established to safeguard the Group’s assets
against improper use or disposal; (i) relevant laws, rules and regulations
are adhered to and complied with; and (iii) that reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

No significant control failings or weaknesses were identified during the
Reporting Year.

The main features of risk management an intemal control structure of the
Company is as follows:

() heads of each operation unit or department manage major risks
affecting the Group’s businesses and operations through the
processes of risk identification, risk assessment and implementation
of risk mitigation measures in accordance with the internal
guidelines approved by the Board and the Risk Management
Committee;

(o) the management ensures appropriate actions are taken on major
risks affecting the Group’s businesses and operations; and

() internal auditors provide independent assurance to the Board, the
Risk Management Committee and the management concerning the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.

During the Reporting Year, major works performed by the management in
relation to risk management and internal control include the following:

(@) reviewed the progress of the implementation of the mitigation plan
for the major risks identified for the year ended 31 March 2023;

(o)  discussed and reviewed the risks at corporate level for Reporting

Year; and incorporated the changes made on them into risk register
for risk assessment;
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

(c) conducted an annual review on effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls; and

(d) reported the results of the risk assessment and internal audit to the
Risk Management Committee and the Board.

Based on the findings of the internal audit and the comments of the Risk
Management Committee, the Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has established a policy on the handling and dissemination
of inside information (“Inside Information”). The inside information policy
concerns the handling and the dissemination of the Inside Information as
follows:

(a) subject to the availability of a safe harbor exception, Inside
Information must be disclosed to public as soon as reasonably
practicable;

(o) executive Directors and senior management should identify events
and/or developments which may constitute Inside Information and
report to the Board to consider whether they may constitute Inside
Information requiring disclosure;

(c) until an announcement in relation to the Inside Information is made,
the Company shall ensure the Inside Information is kept strictly
confidential; and

(d) If the Company believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been
breached, an announcement shall be made as soon as reasonably
practicable.

Inside Information is announced on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy facilitating the Shareholders
and investors to make informed investment decisions relating to the
Company during the Reporting Year. In considering whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall consider
the following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

(@) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(o) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(c) the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(d) the Group’s liquidity position;

(e) business conditions and strategies;
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DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)
(f) future operations and earnings;

(¢)} reasonable return in investment to the Shareholders and investors;
and

(h)  other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company shall also subject to
any restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws, any applicable laws, rules
and regulations, any restrictions that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders, if any and the Articles of Associations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Group during the Reporting Year was as follows:

Type of Services

IR B BUK ()
M  RERERAEF

@ BEREREMREFRENSEDR &

h EFETAERRBRAENEGEER-
ARFERRZNRETRFETHEREERE - EHER

ER - RAFRPIERRS - REEEE T AN E
aIBR & () RABERMA -
BB A E A

RREFE - RBMEAEBERENEZFIFEZREH
FHmT

Amount (HK$’000)

Jibi % b SHE(FHBT)
Audit services BEZIR 1,390
Non-audit services (note) IEEIZARTS (W7t) 934

Note: During the Reporting Year, the Group has engaged the Auditor and their affiliate
companies to provide non-audit services which include (i) tax service, (i) agreed-
upon procedure engagements; (iij) other assurance engagement for retirement
scheme and (iv) financial advisory service.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Madam Woo, the company secretary of the Company, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that
the Board policies and procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed.

During the Reporting Year, Madam Woo have undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training respectively in compliance with Rule
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide opportunity for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of
the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the
AGMs to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor will also attend the
AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
(CONTINUED)

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two- way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at
www.kml.com.hk, where up-to-date information on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public
access.

During the Reporting Year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy. The
Company is of the view that the Shareholders’ communication policy of
the Company has facilitated sufficient shareholders’ communication and
considered the policy is effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. Any
one or more member(s) holding as at date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the voting right, on a one vote per share basis,
in the share capital of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or company secretary of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries to the Company
could send it by following means for the attention of the Company
Secretary:

By post: B12, G/F., Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.
By email: iro@kml.com.hk

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Year, the amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association were approved by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 7 August 2023.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY::

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 61 to 131, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B ERE

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Key audit matter

Contract revenue from and contract costs of Transportation
Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital
Payment Solutions and Services, and Mechanical and Electrical
("M&E") Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

For the year ended 31 March 2024, aggregate amounts of the Group’s
revenue and costs recognised in (i) Transportation Mission Critical System
Solutions, (i) Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services,
and (i) M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services contracts
were HK$167,926,000 and HK$148,610,000, respectively.

Revenue from these services is recognised over time and the input
method is adopted to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
services. The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the budget contract costs for
satisfaction of these services.

The budget contract costs are prepared based on management’s
estimates, such as estimation of direct labour costs to be incurred and
quotations provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors
involved.

Significant estimation is involved and uncertainty exists in determining the
budget contract costs recognised for contract works.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
QOur procedures included:

. Obtaining from management an understanding of the budget
contract costs and how the budget contract costs were evaluated;

o Obtaining the breakdown of budget contract costs and, on a
sample basis, evaluating management’s estimation of the budget
contract costs;

. Recalculating the revenue recognised with reference to the contract
costs incurred for the work performed to date relative to the total
budget contract costs; and

. Checking the contract costs incurred to the amounts of costs
recorded in the direct labour costs, subcontractor payment
certificates and supplier invoices, on a sample basis.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHIU, Caroline Su Yuen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 June 2024
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For the yearended 31 March 2024 BZE=—Z_WF=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income

Other gains and losses, net

Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses)
on financial assets and contract assets, net

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

LOSS BEFORE TAX

Income tax credit

LOSS FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

COMPANY

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

COMPANY

Basic

Diluted

Yoz
SHERA

EM

HABYA

HAtWeas K B 1R

ERMEERSNEEREERR
B, OR{ERE) F5

TTIRFASE

BERKA

BRI A 1R
FriSHiEe
FREEARART

HAANEEFAZE
1R

ARRE B ES A ARG
SEE

E-N

Notes

B EE

10

12

idated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
REMZERGZR

2024 2023
“EDmE —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FET
194,111 153,409
(164,176) (143,523)
29,935 9,886
3,729 7,326
(375) (733)

50 (5,221)
(46,473) (43,479)
(810) (178)
(13,944) (32,399)
151 177
(13,793) (32,222)

HK(3.43) cents
(3.43)7L

HK(8.03) cents
(8.03)7#11l

HK(3.43) cents
(3.43)781L

HK(8.03) cents
(8.03)7% 1L
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MEIRR AR

At31 March 2024 H-—T_NE=A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Deposits
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Contract assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Tax recoverable
Pledged bank deposits
Time deposits with original maturity over
three months
Bank balances and cash

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and retention payables
Other payables and accruals
Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities
Contract liabilities
Provision for contract works

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Net assets
EQUITY
Share capital

Reserves

Total equity

Mr. Luk Kam Ming

FEGRE A S
Director

EF

2024 2023
—E-WE —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B s FHT FAT
EREEE
WE - BE KRR E 13 3,943 4,868
FRAEEE 14(a) 3,201 9,154
by 17 959 948
BARBEFABENEREE 15 6,382 6,214
FEFRIBEE 25 56 =
IERBNVEELRTE 14,541 21,184
MENVEE
eSS 146 236
B SR RIE 16 38,640 29,000
HaRURIE  Be &k
SEANE/E 17 5,999 7,749
BHEE 18 69,010 43,952
BARBEABSENSREE 15 2,925 1,588
EEEE 1,931 1,998
BHEBIRITER 20 24,664 14,004
REHABA=EAN
TEHFR 20 - 12,925
IRITRBNIRS 20 45,569 74,021
BNV EEBTE 188,884 185,473
mEAE
B RNREREMNRES 21 12,146 10,115
HAb R I R IERT & A 22 11,537 13,863
RITIEE 23 15,000 =
HEaE 14(p) 3,156 5,837
AHarE 19 15,881 7,612
AN TIREE 24 9,237 16,169
mENEERE 66,957 53,596
MEVEEFE 121,927 131,877
REERRBEE 136,468 153,061
ERBEE
HERE 14(p) 168 3,322
FEEFIBAG 25 = 95
ERB A ERE 168 3,417
BEFE 136,300 149,644
Wz
&N 27 4,050 4,050
G 132,250 145,594
KeRERS 136,300 149,644

PEERLLE
Director

BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRBER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-_MNF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
KAREE B

Shares held

under the  Share-based

Share Share share award payment Other Accumulated Total
capital premium scheme reserve reserves profits equity
BROED  URGA
HEET  HBAR
BE  ROEE BENRG WE HtRE  ZOER BER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FAL TAL TAL TAL FHEL TAL
(note 39)  (notes 38, 39) (note 28)
(Hfs¥39) (MfsEss-39)  (Hfsios)
At 1 April 2022 “E--#NA-H 4,025 29,598 (709) 1,205 14,791 140,517 189,427
Loss for the year and total comprenensive ~ EREBRENZAERES
loss for the year = = = = = (32,222) (32,222)
Issuance of new shares for the BITRRID SRR Bl MRRRR D
share award scheme (10te 27) Witer) 25 - (25) = = = =
Purchases of shares for the share award BERN ZEEHEPORN
scheme (10te 39) (Hi239) - = (44) = = = (44)
Equity-settled share award arrangements B ERA BB H
(note 39) (W339) - - - 494 - = 494
Forfeiture of share awards fnote 39) SRR IR SRE) (H239) - - - (1) = 41 =
Vesting of shares under the share award i BN BIBBRI (Hri39)
scheme (note 39) - - 391 (391) - - -
Dividend paid BRRE - (8,011) - - - = (8,011)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 W-ZE-=F=A=+-H}
“Z-ZFMA-A 4,050 21,587 (387)* 1,267* 14,791* 108,336* 149,644
Loss for the year and total comprehensive £ RERRFAZASELE
oss for the year - - - - - (13,793 (13,793)
Equity-settled share option amangements B EEEBRIELT H (1:238)
ote 38) - - - 202 - - 202
Equity-setlled share award arrangements B ERNEEZH
fote 39) (W#39) - - - 247 - - %7
Forfeiture of share options (ote 38) RYERRE (f7758) - - - 43) = 43 S
Forfeiture of share awards fnote 39 SRR IR 2B (H239) - - = (53) o 53 -
Vesting of shares under the share award R REEEIBBRG (i39)
scheme (hote 39) - - 18 (18) - - -
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mF=A=1-H 4,050 21,587 (369)* 1,602* 14,791* 94,639* 136,300

* ZERERE BiEGE VIR R ARER S #15132,250,0007
TL(ZZ =4 1 145,594,000 7T) °

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$132,250,000
(2023: HK$145,594,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFHMEENRESRE
Loss before tax FRELATE 1S
Adjustments for: BTYIERE
Bank interest income RITFEWA
Dividends received from listed investments B EmiRE IR E
Interest income from financial assets at fair value BARBERrABENSREE
through profit or loss A S
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment &Y% - BE MEE W
Gain on termination of a lease contract wiE—AEE R
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets at fair ?ﬁ’&ﬁfﬁ%ﬂ\?ﬁiﬁ?&ﬁ'ﬂ@%ﬂﬁf%ﬁ@
value through profit or loss NAEEE (k)
Covid-19-related rent concessions from a lessor R E—% L ARICovid-19
HERESER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W - BB REEITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE
Equity-settled share option expenses A B RIRER
Equity-settled share award expenses R E R SRERA S
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses ~ ©REE LA L EEREFIE
on financial assets and contract assets, net CREEIERR) REEE
HEE
Finance costs BER A
Decrease in inventories FERD
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables Z 5 WK Iﬁ(i“bﬂ)/ Ve
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, HMEWGRIE - ke RIERFIA
deposits and prepayments md/ (i‘ﬂﬂ
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets BHREE GG, R
Increase in trade and retention payables B SR RIBRERRE SN
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals — E A JE 2B N fEZT &
CRL) /45
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities /\Z’JE &, Gl
(Decrease)/increase in provision for contract works & 49 T2 &4 (Rl / Ein
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 2EB(FTR),/ FTEEMRS
Interest paid for lease payments BEAHAERFFE
Income tax refunded ERATEH

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities EES (TR FTEER
BEREFE
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2024 2023

—E-WE —E-=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FExT FHT
(13,944) (32,399)
6 (2,783) (1,843)
6 (45) (63)
6 (294) (337)
6 (12) -
6 - "
6 220 (31)
14(b) - 67)
9 2,092 2,118
9 5,953 6,177
38 202 -
39 247 494

34 (50) 5,221
7 810 178
(7,604) (20,559)

90 1

(9,618) 18,363
1,739 (1,455)

(25,030) 2,368

2,031 1,472

(2,237) 2,567
8,269 (9,441)

(6,932) 16,169

(39,292) 9,485
(351) (167)

- 917

(39,643) 10,235




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
mEREeRER (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—Z-_MNF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mE —TC-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FEx FHEL
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES BERMEENRESRE
Interest received EUFIE 2,906 1,913
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWXE - BEREE (1,167) (2,281)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and LEWE - BERZEHFTERIE
equipment 12 -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through BERAABEFABRNECHEE
profit or loss (2,977) (9,689)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets PERARBFABENEREE
at fair value through profit or loss ZFT85E 1,446 9,169
Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity REUREIHA B BB =18 A8 EH
over three months T% 24,907 60,329
Placement of time deposits with original maturity GFAREIHBEBAE=MANTH
over three months TR (11,982) (56,625)
Increase in pledged bank deposits BEARRITIE RGN (10,660) (167)
Net cash flows from investing activities HEEHMEENRSTEFH 2,485 2,649
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BERHMELENRERE
New bank loans FRTTER 21,000 1,000
Repayment of a bank loan BERITER (6,000) (1,000)
Purchases of shares for share award scheme ﬁ%“é“ﬁ%ﬁ’i%@]?r; kol 39 = (44)
Principal portion of lease payments ENROREBS 36(b) (5,835) (6,194)
Dividends paid Eﬁ 85 - (8,011)
Interest paid BERFLE (459) (11)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities BEESHEL, (TR MRS
hEEE 8,706 (14,260)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 34 RIE4 % By FE (28,452) (1,376)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FUR e RREEEY 74,021 75,397
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR, FAXRIR&REELZEY -
represented by bank balances and cash RIBITEBR IR ST 45,569 74,021
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2ARREEER
KML Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability SHEEEEEERAF((RATF]) A—HRFSE
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office SEMEZHBR AR o ARA R A MR R
address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box ik ACricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681,
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° 2"
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at B12, AIRBEBNEELEEMUI AT BT ALY B/ NERRE
G/F, Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road, Shatin, New DHIEP O TBI2E o
Territories, Hong Kong.
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its RARMEBEBAREERERENB AR (HHEA
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally [REE]) TZRFRMUME (BB TEFEAFTR
engaged in the provision of mechanical and electrical (“M&E”) KPR o
engineering solutions and services.
Information about subsidiaries EEMBARNER
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are ARRRZE_NF=A=+—HZWBLRIFE
as follows: Ul
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the Company
and business share capital KARREMEREEDN
Name HEMREL/ BER BRITLER/ Direct Indirect Principal activities
#8 S R B# i TEEH
Directly held:
EERE
KML Group (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% - Investment holding
(‘BVI")/Hong Kong
KML Group (BVI) Limited REERAHE ((ABE Ey 100% - REER
aBBl) /B
KML eCommerce (BVI) Limited BVI US$1 100% = Investment holding
KML eCommerce (BV) Limited HBREIAHS E 100% - REER
Indirectly held:
BiERE
KML Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 = 100% Provision of professional M&E
("KML Engineering’) system engineering services
for railway and road transport
infrastructure projects and sales of
parts and components
BRMEIRERAR 3 10,000,000%7T - 100% REBRRABRBARER
(BHMEIR)) RUESEUBTZRTIRRBER
HETH R
KML Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$3,020,000 - 100% Provision of professional M&E
system engineering services
for railway and road transport
infrastructure projects
EHNRARAT Bk 3,020,000%7T - 100% REBRRAERBARIER
REEXRSZRTERE
KML Capitals Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100% Investment on financial assets
EHREARAF Bk 10,0007 - 100% SRIARE
€2B Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100% Dormant
€28 Limited &iE 10,000/7T - 100% AT

KMLTechnology Group Limited

Annual Report 2023/24



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 March 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

2.1
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BREDABTT (BT 23 BREEAIN
BERINBERKAENTT -
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B - RIEE ARG -
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AEREREERAE #a WA - FXAKE
DMBRFE IR BEEH -

HEERIEAER L =R EHI R RN —RHZH
HBREL  ARESEHMIEATELEFIREY
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets, liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
accumulated profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group has directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilties arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@) Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide
non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
disclosed the material accounting policy information in note
3 to the financial statements. The amendments did not have
any impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

()

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and
policy align with the amendments, the amendments had no
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that
it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these transactions.
The adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also introduce
disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help users
of the financial statements better understand the entities’
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure
of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately
in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and the
disclosure of known or reasonably estimable information
of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in
which the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but
not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the scope
of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not have
any impact to the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,
when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor its and Associate or
Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments”) "4
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

(the “2022 Amendments”) +*
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
§ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
a As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

(b)  Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

() The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

(d)  Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide
certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

(e) Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at
a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of
a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated
in a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the
date of initial application. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

o its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

. its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

o its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising

from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the
joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to
the Group’s interest in a joint operation are accounted for in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

0} has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(v the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Plant and machinery 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Marine equipment 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new projects is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Project development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:
Office premises 1.5 to 3 years
Warehouse 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are separately disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

() Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of containers (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to the containers that are considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
one year past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised initially at fair
value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and retention payables,
other payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and retention payables,
other payables and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and retention payables, other payables
and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired from the market
and held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) under
the share award scheme of the Company are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

EPN-Cie At )

RIERASHAE
HEmBE THRBRER - BUBREIE - RIRE
BERIRRERAas -

BERASREBERKER —HHANS B EFE
ENeRBEESR - FRBAENGERRKED
RIES - RIAEMER] S RGIFRILERRE

et

RS
&

RERFAE  HASREEEZZENERAHE
g
KiFemIT A

IR — AR REMITEEREN - ATEEC
RE - ARAFREEIRRSREENEEE
% RlemEERTMAER THEE  WORRAE
BN KZ 2R -

EFRS
ARABHAKBREARD R ZE)F B HROR
MHEREANS FRAT A (BEFRD) IRKAE
EREGTPHER - B E  HE  BITNEHEAE
BB SNRATAMS - HANBEARERER

75
R RR R R SR EME BRI -
AT AT - 7B IFE R B
SR FE A1 1 B R A e (R A o

RERBESEEY
HHERAKRTORE LA EEENRETFRRE R
FHRRITHRS - URIBAATEE=EA AR
AR SR AENBER S AEERDRBREM R
FrEm R R S AN E SR RBIEER -

HEARSRERMNE  REMASFEVEET
BIRE REFRRRITNES Uk EXRENEH
TR BAREREEYBRAEERERNH—
EOMIRITES

EHAREEERAT « —B-=/“NEER

81



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in
profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the provision of
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing
and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, M&E Technology
Solutions and Engineering Services and Sales of Products, Parts
and Components for general repairs of defects occurring during
the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties
granted by the Group are initially recognised based on past
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their
present values as appropriate. The warranty-related cost is revised
annually.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile
Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, and
MG&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services
Revenue from the provision of Transportation Mission Critical
System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment
Solutions and Services and M&E Technology Solutions and
Engineering Services is generated from the design, supply
and installation of systems and implementation of these
services.

Revenue is recognised over time, using an input method
to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
the service, because the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. The input method recognises
revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

@

Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile
Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, and
MG&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services
(continued)

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks
to collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs
and margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
considerations and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable considerations is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Under the terms of contracts, the Group’s performance
creates and/or enhances the assets which the customers
control during the course of work by the Group. Revenue
from the provision of contracting services is therefore
recognised based on the stage of completion of contracts
over time using the input method. The Group normally
receives progress payment from customers on a monthly
basis with reference to the contract terms. The Group
requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits at
rates ranging from 5% to 20% of total contract sum. When
the Group receives a deposit before the project commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract
until the full amount of deposits is deducted proportionately
from monthly progress payment.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which these
services are performed and represents the Group’s right
to consideration for the services performed and not billed
because the rights are conditional on the Group’s future
performance accepted by the customers. The contract assets
are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The Group typically transfers its contract
assets to trade receivables when progress certificate/invoice
is issued.

Retention receivables, prior to the expiration of the
maintenance period which usually ranges from one to three
years from the date of the practical completion of the project,
are classified as contract assets. The relevant amount of
contract assets is reclassified to trade receivables when
the maintenance period expires, and/or the maintenance/
payment certificate is issued, and/or the final account is
issued.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Provision of Digital Fabrication and Maintenance Services
Revenue from the provision of fabrication services is
generated from design and fabrication services for the
fabrication of made-to-order products for the customers.
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the goods to specific locations and customers obtaining
control of the goods.

Revenue from the provision of maintenance services to the
customers’ facilities is recognised over time when services
are rendered during the contract period. The services are
billed based on the services performed.

() Sales of Products, Parts and Components
Revenue from the sales of products, parts and components
is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
goods to specific locations and customers obtaining control
of the materials.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the contract terms, a contract asset is recognised for the
earned consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are
subject to impairment assessment, details of which are included in
the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. They are
reclassified to trade receivables when the right to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories and
property, plant and equipment, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following
criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Shares held under the share award scheme

Where shares of the Company are gifted or purchased from the
open market for the share award scheme, the fair value at the date
of gifting or consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs, respectively, is presented as “Shares held under
the share award scheme” and deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Other employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully,
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO retirement benefit scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”) for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the ORSO Scheme.
The ORSO Scheme operates in a way similar to the MPF Scheme,
except that when an employee leaves the scheme prior to his/
her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the
relevant amount of the employer’s forfeited contributions.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividend

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are set out below:

Contract revenue from and contract costs of Transportation
Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing

and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, and M&E
Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared for
each contract of Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions,
Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services,
and M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services as
the contract progresses. Budget engineering service costs are
prepared by management on the basis of estimation of direct
labour costs to be incurred and quotations from time to time
provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved
and the experience of management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews
of the budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted amounts
to the actual amounts incurred. Such significant estimate may have
impact on the revenue recognised in each period with adjustments
made on a prospective basis.

Recognised amounts of these services contracts revenue and
related receivables reflect management’s best estimate of each
contract’s outcome and stage of completion, which are determined
on the basis of a number of estimates. This includes the assessment
of the profitability of these ongoing services contracts.

For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and
contract profitability are subject to significant estimation uncertainty.
The actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be
higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date with
adjustments made on a prospective basis.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BZE=—Z_WF=A=+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions

Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and
Services

M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

Digital Fabrication and Maintenance Services

Sales of Products, Parts and Components

(@) Disaggregated revenue information

By timing of revenue recognition:
Transferred at a point in time
Transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts with customers

5. WERIBER

REESSEDITMT -

2024 2023
—E_-_E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FAET
REARTF&HHKES
RIBEERRER AR 10,514 24,528
REES R EIE Y MRS R
M AR 54,662 19,782
WERTERIRTT R R TR 102,750 80,336
ISR MMRE RS 25,168 23,289
HEEM - THRIMH 1,017 5,474
194,111 153,409
(@) HIFWEER
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
B R
RE AR EE 1,017 5,474
&R 193,094 147,935
RERFALHNKEGBEE 194,111 153,409
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Performance obligations
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

is & 2 BDE K ()

(b) BEHEE

RBREFER  PEEFBRBHEECRELD
HEDREL) R HERSEMOT

2024 —E-MFE
Mobile M&E
Transportation Ticketing Technology Digital
Mission and Digital Solutions Fabrication
Critical Payment and and
System Solutions  Engineering  Maintenance
Solutions  and Services Services Services Others
RBEBR BRIl
RERE HBXA®R BRERR BBEER
REBAER HRRRH TREH RER Hit
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT THERT TRR TER TR
Within one year —FR 24,897 39,607 131,365 14,154 1,125
More than one year —E 8,058 60,546 55,928 6,253 3
32,955 100,243 187,293 20,407 1,128
2023 —E-=F
Mobile M&E
Ticketing Technology Digital
Transportation and Digital Solutions Fabrication
Mission Payment and and
Critical System Solutions Engineering Maintenance
Solutions and Services Services Services Others
RBEBR WE R
TRER  EBXRR RAIER YRR
REBARE LEYLITS TRRER% RERS Hity
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET FET FET
Within one year —FR 12,836 61,648 171,151 20,544 149
More than one year —FLE 4,650 81,910 68,002 17,258 21
17,486 143,558 239,243 37,802 170
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR Rk

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BZE=—Z_WF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment information

The Group’s operating income was derived from the provision of
MG&E engineering solutions and services during both years. For the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the chief operation decision maker (i.e. the executive directors of
the Company) reviews the overall results and financial position of
the Group as a whole. Accordingly, the Group has only one single
operating segment and no separate analysis of this single segment is
presented other than entity-wide disclosure.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the place
of operation of customers and non-current assets by jurisdictions
based on the location of the assets are detailed below:

Wik & 7 BRE K ()

REEFEAR  AEENKEWARERHEET
RERAERRE - RERDERKRBETEME -
TERERRE AARARNTER) BHALED
BEREERBMBR - it - AREES—EE—
REDBRGEBBEANNRESN - WESIZE
—DEHEBHWN -

REBERBINDEF (ERTF EEEH) MUk
MiZrAE R (EREEMEME) D MIEREE
EFAT ¢

Revenue Non-current assets
& EREBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
—EWNE T =F —EomE T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET FExT FET
(note) (note)
(#iat) (H172)
Hong Kong &5 193,331 147,562 7,144 14,022
Taiwan =y 19 4,500 - -
Others EAftb 761 1,347 - =
194,111 153,409 7,144 14,022

Note:  Non-current assets comprise property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets.

Information about a major customer
Revenue from a customer of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

Customer A BPA

Other than disclosed above, there was no revenue from customers
individually contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Wit . HRBEEERYE  BERIEURCEHEEE -

FR-EXETFNESR

RABEFEAAEEBKEI10% N L2 —REFPK

A
2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiET
154,522 113,366

BEXPIBEEN  RBEE-Z-_NFR-T ==
FZA=t-RLEE BEREE-ZFLPHORE
HASEEBKEI0%A L
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES, NET \6. EHAMRAR W R &SR
Other income HA A
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAxT
Bank interest income HRITFLEMA 2,783 1,843
Dividend income Az B A 45 63
Government subsidies (note) BT B (B 57) 360 4,896
Interest income from financial assets at fair value  #E AR B AIBENESRIEE
through profit or loss ESPIFSRON 294 337
Sundry income WA 247 187
Total a5 3,729 7,326
Note:  The amount represented subsidies of HK$223,000 (2023: HK$164,000) Biat : ZFIB 15K B 200 & F pt £ RIZ 5 5 BB 7 B
received from the Group’s participation in the Youth Employment and 223,000/ (ZF = =1F : 164,000/ 7T) R A EHZ
Training Programme and subsidies of HK$137,000 (2023: HK$180,000) BB BB R TR S BB B) 137,000/ (ZF
received from the Group's participation in the Pilot Incentive Scheme to =% :180,000/7) - o) BE=ZF==F=H
Employers. In addition, subsidies of HK$4,552,000 received from the =+ —HILFEEEEREF EWEEE)4,552,000
Employment Support Scheme in Hong Kong during the year ended 31 BT+ REBERFHIE AT RHE - (EFHE
March 2023 which the Group was required to undertake not to implement 11ESETE - AATBBRZZHHEIENIFIA B R -

redundancy during the subsidy period and to use the subsidy to pay
wages of the employees and all conditions relating to these grants have

been fulfilled.
Other gains and losses, net HihWz= RSB SR
2024 2023
—EB-EF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAxT
Gain on disposal of property, plant and LEWE  BEK
equipment BiiELre 12
Gain on termination of a lease contract HRIE—mAEE R - 7
Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at fair AR EFFABRNESHEENARE
value through profit or loss (B518) /W mE EATFERSFHE (220) 31
Foreign exchange differences, net SN Z FEFRE (167) (r71)
Total st (375) (733)
7. FINANCE COSTS Uo mE KA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: RUEKA 2 DHTAT ¢
2024 2023
—EB-EF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FiET
Interest on bank borrowings (note 23) RITEREZFE (Hit23) 459 11
Interest on lease liabilities HEREZFE 351 167
Total 5 810 178

94 KML Technology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2023/24



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 8.

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2024

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (‘“Mr. KM Luk’)

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (‘Mr. CL

Chan")*
Mr. Lau On Kwok
Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen
Dr. Tse Chi Kong
Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry*

Year ended 31 March 2023
Mr. KM Luk

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Mr. CL Chan

Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen
Dr. Tse Chi Kong

Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry

ESRESHMH

(a)

EERTETRASEH

RIEGEM ET#AI - HA R EHEHIZE383(1)
@ b) ORHMERAT (HBEEEMFZER)
BHIFE2E FREEFHFEENT ¢

Retirement Equity-
benefit settled
Salaries and scheme share option
Fees allowances contributions expense Total
BHRER BRgE
Be HeRER SEMHR  EREEX k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL THEL AL T TEL
BE-Z-ME=-A=+-HILEE
PR ([HEEmR AL - 1,068 - - 1,068
BEEFRLE 60 720 36 - 816
BEYLE 60 704 35 - 799
BRER A ((FRIZREE])
21 502 40 9 572
it 180 - - - 180
BAKERE 180 - - - 180
HEREL 180 - - - 180
FKBRI A 63 - - = 63
744 2,994 111 9 3,858
BE-ZE-=f=-A=t-HLEE
PEER LA - 1,068 - = 1,068
BFRLL 60 682 34 = 776
BEYLE 60 666 33 = 759
BB L 60 1,332 106 = 1,498
bt 180 - - = 180
BAKELRE 180 = = = 180
HEREL 180 = = = 180
FKBEREAE 75 = = = 75
795 3,748 173 = 4716

Mr. CL Chan retired as executive director of the Company with effect
from 7 August 2023 and is continued to serve as a director of KML

Engineering.

#  Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry retired as independent non-executive directors
of the Company with effect from 7 August 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2023: nil).

The emoluments of executive directors were for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Company and the Group.

BOEBA L ERIFNAHITEE 5 -F_=4F
JNAE HBERL - (BB AR TR E
-

RKFALECERERRAIBUHPNTEE  H=F
ZZFENAEHEBER -

FR- BEEEREAFAEREEAHESH
ZH(CE=F 8\ -

HITESHFMN IR NEERARR RAEHE
=R RBMEL -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors
were for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
of the Company have waived any remuneration during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

ESRESHMH (B

(a)

EERTETHASHMN (@)

BIJFATESEHIMOBEF SRR
Stz REMEL -

REBE_T_MER-_T-_=F=A=1—
BILFE  AEBETEQARREETINFH
B V8 75 IR B 182 5 0 A\ B DA S B2 (81 B 1 2R
mi@ﬁ%%ﬁE°F&§_7_ﬂi&_
TE=F-A=1+—BLLFE  #$HEALQ
ESWEEAHH

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEFHEH
The five highest paid individuals included a director of the FEERFALTBERBE T _MFER=
Company and Mr. CL Chan (2023: two directors) whose T —F-A=+—BHIEFEEEMEA
directors’ emoluments are included in the disclosures in (a) EX@BEBEFHORRE]—F %%&@%FE&&
above for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. The FHE(ZE = *i MEESE) - REEZT
emoluments of the remaining three individuals and Mr. CL “HFERZEZ=F=A=+— EI IEFE -
Chan upon retirement as a director (2023: three individuals) EHR=ZZATURREBREEEEREERA
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 were as K(CEZ=F: ZZADNFMET :
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TFHT
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 4,233 2,910
Performance bonus (nots) FIRTELT (H/52) 205 207
Retirement benefit scheme contributions LVFTE FIETBIHE R 219 146
Equity-settled share option expense EnEEBRERS 18 =
Total 45t 4,675 3,263
Note: Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and Wit - RBHALGRELREBAE A BERET
responsibilities of the relevant individuals within the Group and the HURFEBA LB REET -
Group’s performance.
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BENFHNEATER ZA -
2024 2023
—E-NE —TE-=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AZ
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 1,000,000/ 7T 0 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,00078 7T 4 2
Total @5t 4 3
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no NBE-_S-—_MER-_ZTE-_="F=/B=+—
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest HIEFE AEBVERATAEZZEHATS
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the NEE - EARS|HEMAKINANEEZ

Group or as compensation for loss of office.

HY BRI SR BB AR (E -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

10.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging:

Cost of sales
— Transportation Mission Critical System
Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital
Payment Solutions and Services, and M&E
Technology Solutions and Engineering
Services
— Others
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Auditor’s remuneration
Directors’ remuneration

Employee benefit expenses (excluding directors’
and chief executive’s remuneration (note 8)):

Salaries and other benefits*
Retirement benefit scheme contributions
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

Total employee benefit expenses

Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities

9. FREIAIAEIR

SHERAR
—RBEARRGRRNE
BN N B X A
T RFIRTE R E R AR
R R R TIZRR

—Eft
W - BERRETE
EREEERE
(FETE
B2

BERIFAX (TREEER
TETRABRE
(#1728))

Fro REMBN

RIRTBFIFT IR

RERAEE AR AD AR R
HIFX

EERMM &R

AR NEER BB
BEMHK

* For the year ended 31 March 2024, HK$46,803,000 (2023:
HK$48,548,000) of salaries and other benefits is included in “Cost
of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

INCOME TAX

Current — Hong Kong
Charge for the year
Overprovision in prior years

Deferred (note 25)

Total tax credit for the year

REERBATBEREMBRIA T SIRIRE -

2024 2023

—E-E —E-=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P FERT FAxT
148,610 125,264

15,566 18,259

13 2,092 2,118
14 5,953 6,177
1,390 1,760

8 3,858 4,716
68,464 68,848

2,786 2,758

440 494

71,690 72,100

156 148

BE—F_MFE=A=+—HIFE  FEREMEF
46,803,000;87C (—F—=4F : 48,648,000;87T) i1 A#7
BRmRAMPE R RT ) [ HHELA -

10. FREHIRX

BNHER — &S
FAMAEZ
BEFERERE

IR (H17225)

REEHIRE R L

2024 2023
—EC-NF —ET=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHT

= (251)

(151) 74
(151) (177)

EHAREEERAT « —B-=/“NEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

10.

11.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year.

The Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI pursuant to the rules and regulations in those
jurisdictions.

The tax credit for both years can be reconciled to the loss before
tax as follows:

Loss before tax KA RIEE

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5%

Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous
periods

Income not subject to tax BERZ A
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A
Tax losses not recognised RERRIBEE

Tax credit for the year at the Group’s effective
tax rate

No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax
losses of HK$48,043,000 (2023: HK$35,659,000) as they have
arisen from subsidiaries with unpredictability of future profit and it is
not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised in the foreseeable future.

DIVIDEND

Dividend recognised as distribution during
the year:

Nil (2023: 2022 Final dividend of HK2.0 cents) E(CZE =%
Bk BAR2.071L)
B IRIEAR G REETEIFR B MRHDIRE

per ordinary share
Less: Dividend for shares held under the
share award scheme

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year (2023: nil).
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10.

AT TGRS 16 5% B 2 BUR
BB A B BUAR

BAREEERENEAEDN
REEHIAER

11.

FRERRDIRBE

—— —

— =

FRSBLBI X ()

HRASERFALEETBELTMERRT G
A - A A BB TS HAE L BHE -

BREXHSHEESREBRELFENRARMAD - &
SENZE AR BERMMNEAMEHR -

R EFE B IRE L A SR AR S ARA T

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FiET

(13,944) (32,399

(2,301) (5,346)

- (251)

(273) (1,005)

457 554
1,966 5,871

(151) (177)

MR IBEIEES B RICEF AT T B A
A At - WER R IEE1E48,043,0008 T (=&
— =% : 35,659,000/ ) RELERIBEE * MK
A 78 B AR R B SR B v F I K AT e R A K S5 8 A /9
FREEE -

BE
2024 2023
—ECNEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FBT
FRAPIEE
= 8,050
= (39)
= 8,011

%%@$EE§?@H$¢F§X%H§% (Z2==F:



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BZE=—Z_WF=A=+—HILFE

12.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss for
the year attributable to owners of the Company of HK$13,793,000
(2023: HK$32,222,000), and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue less treasury shares held under share award
scheme during the year of 401,893,000 (2023: 401,375,000).

In respect of the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts
presented in respect of a dilution as the impact of the awarded
shares and share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic loss per share amounts presented.

Loss B8

12.

RAREBRESFEARGERESE

BRERNEEESBIBEALFEE ABGLFTANE
813,793,000/ 70 (Z T = =4 : 3 F32,222,000/%
70) AR FERE BT R RN T EURAR IR AR 15
H2E TR A M EF R (D 401,893,000/% (ZF ==
£ 1 401,375,000 51 & -

BHE_Z-_MER-_FT-_="F=-A=+—HIEF
& BRRITERERD MEBRENZEEZT
EREANEESBAEREERE - At RE S
EE2INTRERNEESBEIERAE -

Loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity ~ FRZAR A& @A A AR
holders of the Company, used in the basic loss &8 @ ARTESRERNEIR

per share calculation

Shares 80)

2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET BT
(13,793) (32,222)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 81T E @A IE FI BURGT & SR EA
issue less treasury shares held under the share [ 1BFTR F % SBEIFTEIE T5EH

award scheme during the year used in the EEfF AR D
basic loss per share calculation

BOEE
2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
’000 '000
Fi F %
401,893 401,375

SHNREEERAT « ZT-=/ZNFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—ZT-WNF=A=t+—HILFE

]\

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% BERRZHE
Leasehold Furniture Plant and Computer Motor Marine
improvements  and fixtures machinery equipment vehicles equipment Total
BihR
HENFEE BE%E  HERHS ShimE HE RARE fazt

HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
ThEn TERL T TiEn TERL T FiEL

Cost: B
Asat 1 April 2022 RZE_—FmA-H 4,047 1018 3,005 8,886 3,580 54 21,010
Additions HE 281 15 206 954 401 424 2,281
Disposals HE S - 1) - - - ]
Asat31 March2023and 1 Aprl 2023 R-Z-=%=fA=1+-8k

“E-Z%NA-A 4,528 1,083 3,430 9,840 3,981 478 23,290
Additions HE = - 334 195 327 311 1,167
Disposals L - - - - (533) - (533)
As at 31 March 2024 R-Z-WF=A=1-A 4528 1,083 3,764 10,035 3,175 789 23,924
Accumulated depreciation: ZitiE
Asat 1 April 2022 R-E-—FMA-H 2,511 1,002 2,811 7430 2534 17 16,305
Provided during the year EREfE 662 29 2719 619 518 11 2,118
Disposals & - - (1) = = = ]
Asat 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 =F==%=F=1-AF

=EmA-A 3173 1,081 3,089 8,049 3,052 28 18,422

Provided during the year 601 2 170 630 576 13 2,002
Disposals - - - - (533) - (533)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=A=1-A 3,774 1,083 3,259 8,679 3,095 14 19,981
Net carrying value: BEFE:
Asat 31 March 2024 R-Z-WE=fA=1-A 754 - 505 1,356 680 648 3,943
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZZEZA=1-A 1,355 2 341 1,791 929 450 4,868

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

14.

LEASES

The Group has lease contracts as lessees for several properties.
Leases of the properties generally have lease terms between 1 and
3 years.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

At 1 April 2022

Additions NE
Depreciation charge TEEA
Termination of a lease contract BIEHREEH

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023
Depreciation charge HEER

At 31 March 2024
Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

(b)

Carrying amount at 1 April

New leases

Accretion of interest recognised during the year
Covid-19-related rent concessions from a lessor

g

HeER
Termination of a lease contract

Payments 3R

Carrying amount at 31 March

Analysed into: DT
Repayable: Ee
Within one year —FR
Over one year iBim—F

Less: Non-current portion

Current portion

o IERBER D

Zs hvi [N
MENEBH

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 34

to the consolidated financial statements.

14.

RZZEZZFHA—H

R A—RZEREE

FNTERZETHE
R E—% M AKCovid-191H7

HE

AEBERETHENABARILESEAL -
HEZHEHR —RB1EIF -

(a)

R-E-_mF=A=+—H

(b)

BIE—MEEE 8RR

MR=R=+—HAZKREE

RZBE_=F=A=+—HR-_ZE=-=FIA—H

VES

EREEE
AEBCAREENERAERFANEZE SN
™
Properties
L/E S
HK$'000
FHET
6,224
9,311
6,177)
(204)
9,154
(5,953)
3,201
HERE
HEABENREBERFANZSOT
2024 2023
—BC-EF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
9,159 6,320
- 9,311
351 167
= 67)
- (211)
(6,186) (6,361)
3,324 9,159
2024 2023
—EB-EF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
3,156 5,837
168 3,322
3,324 9,159
(168) (3,322)
3,156 5,837

MERBEIRERDMNEGE M B IREKM

FEB4IEE -

SHNREEERAT « ZT-=/ZNFFH
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For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

14. LEASES (CONTINUED) 14. BE @
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss for the reporting () MEEFERZEHEMREZERZEHE
period in relation to leases are as follows: O
2024 2023
—BNEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGBZHE 351 167
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FREEEZITEER 5,953 6,177
Expense relating to short-term leases B ERE Y
(included in administrative expenses) GrAFTEHAZA) 156 148
Covid-19-related rent concessions froma 2R E —%& B A B Covid-19iERITH & E Rk
lessor = 67)
Gain on termination of a lease contract BIE—HEEE WG - 7)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss ~ AIBHERHBE5E 6,460 6,418
The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in note 36(c) HEMBRESRLBAER B 7% s R B 5
to the consolidated financial statements. 36(c) A FE ©
15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 15. RAAEFABRZENEREE
OR LOSS
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P FEx FExT
Listed equity investments, at fair value, included in TR AIEE - st ARBEE
current assets EWEARE) 925 1,588
Unlisted investments, at fair value EEMRE AR ME)
Deposits paid for life insurance products, ASRBERENEZES
included in non-current assets STAFERBEE (@) 6,382 6,214
Debt investment, included in current assets BEBIRE - SARBEE (b) 2,000 -
9,307 7,802

The above listed equity investments were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for

trading.

The above unlisted investments at 31 March 2024 were (i) the
deposits paid for life insurance products and (i) the debt security
issued by financial institutions in Hong Kong. They were classified

as financial assets at fair value through profit
contractual cash flows are not solely payments
interest.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE—T-_WF=A=+—HILFE

15.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

©)

The life insurance products were entered by the Group’s subsidiaries
with financial institutions on certain senior management of the Group,
including Mr. CL Chan and Mr. Luk Yin Cheung, directors of the Company.
Under the life insurance policies, the beneficiary and policy holders are
subsidiaries of the Group. The Group’s subsidiaries are required to pay
a single premium or annual premium for the policies and may request a
partial surrender or full surrender of the policies at any time and receive
cash back based on the value of the policies at the date of surrender,
which is determined by the account value net of any surrender charge
(the “Cash Values’). The policy premium expense, insurance charges
and surrender charges are recognised in profit or loss. The life insurance
policies have guaranteed value or carry guaranteed interest of 4.25% per
annum at first year, and a minimum guaranteed interest of 2.00% per
annum at the second year and onwards.

The Cash Values which are considered a close estimate to the fair values of
the life insurance policies, were HK$6,382,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$6,214,000), determined by reference to the Cash Values as provided
by the insurance companies. The fair value of the Group’s insurance
policies was measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 of fair
value hierarchy) as defined in HKFRS 13.

The aggregate carrying amounts of HK$5,916,000 (2023: HK$5,758,000)
as at 31 March 2024 were pledged as security for a banking facility of the
Group (note 23).

The entire balance of the life insurance products is denominated in United
States dollars (“US$”).

The balance represented debt security issued by the Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited, which has a maturity of 1 year from June 2023 to
June 2024, and carries interest at the rate of 4.7 % per annum.

15.

RAAEFABSNEHEE (B

Wzt -

@

®)

FEBHER A ELBEERLEEE TS RELE
(BREARAEEGEBALRESZHEL)TTUAFZR
BRE - RIFAFRRRE - FEBHEHR A BZ A
REREFHA o KEBRIE L AFHZERE—NIEL
1TRIZEZFERE - AR EKES }E/z‘?jtﬁa/&
REREIRE AR EBEREI TS - FRAFEZ IR
TR EEHIG (ETRREEE ([REEE]) - (RER
& - (Rbg B RBREGR Bt NHER - AFIRERERE
1EFRRREFFIFE4.25%518 - BFEFIE  HRIE
RAZFFIE2.00%518.

HABRBRES T 2 (BERERLS B R AN

B R-F=pmFE=H=+—H#6382,000/67 (=%

=4 1 6,214,000/87T) * BEERBAGIHEHEIEE

BIEET - XEBBIRRIREL LA EIRABBHHE

%ﬁﬂi//%) 1 iﬁfﬁ%ﬂ@é‘ﬁ% AR AR (A EE
=R)itE -

RoFE-pmE=F=+—H - REH#1E5,916,000/%7T
(ZZFE==1F : 5,758,000/87T) EHEFFEATEERTTH
BEHHF G

A FRIBE A2 BV AN ZE T ([ T) 5I/ME -
ERRIE B BILIEEF BIR AN AIH TR EHES - IRA

1F BT -_=F N NAZ-F-[FNA BEFE
4.7%518 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE—ZT-WNF=A=t+—HILFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES 16.

The Group grants credit terms of 30 to 60 days to its customers
from the date of invoices on progress billings of contract and
maintenance works and sales of goods. An ageing analysis of the
trade receivables is presented based on the invoice date at the end
of the reporting period.

Within 30 days 30HA

31 to 60 days 31£60H

61 to 90 days 61Z290H

Over 90 days #83B90H

Less: Accumulated loss allowance (note 34) W RETEIEEHE (BiEs4)
Total 5T

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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AEEBANRBETIZEERABRZAHRHE
EmEmEEFRE0AEC0ORMNEED - KlE
FREAENREZAH2IE HRETIRRE DT ©

2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FiBT
14,221 11,316
17,065 14,240
6,101 2,715
1,284 4,897
38,671 33,168
(31) (4,168)
38,640 29,000

FEERERP B S GREBNEER ST
WHEF —RBERNTERIN - FLEFHEHK
EERE - REBETLRE ARFEZ BURFIRME R
REEIRAEEENAFINEEERRRER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

16.

17.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances were balances from customers with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$13,259,000 (2023: HK$20,366,000) which were
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
none (2023: HK$4,339,000) has been past due more than 90
days. The Group rebutted the presumption of default under the
expected credit loss model for trade receivables past due over 90
days assuming no significant change in credit quality after having
an understanding of those customers’ background as well as the
good payment records and continuous business relationship with
those customers. Further, such long outstanding balances were
primarily due to overdue payment which was a common practice in
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing
and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, and M&E Technology
Solutions and Engineering Services. The Group did not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment of trade receivables for the year ended 31
March 2024 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements. The ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2023 were HK$31,000 and HK$4,168,000,
respectively.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, trade receivables were all
denominated in HKS.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

16.

17.

B 5 RWEOE ()

R-ZZE-_WE=A=+—08 KEEBFEKZ
BB AREER13,259,0008 T (Z T =4 :
20,366,000/ 70) WEREFFKIE © ZFER RS
AHE @ - xSafsshTs  TE(CT=-=F
4,339,000/ 7T) B @ EARR 00K - AREBE T T R
ERFHNEEURT I M RS EEREERE
BREELEEVESAEE  HEOHIORANE S
W RTEaBEEBBEN TRELRET - st -
EHRABEAHIEARBEREASMASER
BN MBS S BRR T 2R KBRS A E iR
RAREIRRENERES - NEBYERZS
EHRFBETMEER -

BE_Z-_ME=ZA=1+—BIFE BIHEKX
EREZFBHNGAMEHRENTEIL - KT
THE=A=+—AK=-ZTE-=F=A=+—0H
B S EWHIETRREEEES R A31,0008 T &
4,168,000/ 7T °

RIZE-NER-ZT-_=F=A=+—H BHE
W R BY LABTTYIE o

Hitt W FOR » BERANRE

Non-current: FERNER -
Deposits Re

Current: BNEY
Advances to suppliers BT HIERS
Prepayments SEANE O
Interest receivables FEUFIE
Others Efth

Subtotal /NEF

Total RET

2024
—EomE
HK$’000
FHET

2023

T =F
HK$'000
FExT

959

4,854
639
364
142

948

5,967
638
320
824

5,999

7,749

6,958

8,697

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables
for which there was no recent history of default. Their related ECL
considerations are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

B EEMEARTERE - FTALRERZ SR
BERY TR OLE 2 BEIBEER - HEE
HEEERENGA B mENE34 -
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CONTRACT ASSETS

Transportation Mission Critical System X iBREA# Rk 5 2
Solutions

Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment 7 B1 2275 & 85 & 7 0 5 52

Solutions and Services KR
M&E Technology Solutions and
Engineering Services
Digital Fabrication and Maintenance BSE L AR B IR TS
Services

BB (K17#34)

Impairment (note 34)

Total FE

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which the engineering
services are performed, representing the Group’s right to
consideration for the services performed and not billed because
the rights are conditional on the Group’s future performance
accepted by the customers. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. The
Group typically transfers its contract assets to trade receivables
when progress certificate/invoice is issued. The Group generally
provides their customers with maintenance period of one to three
years from the date of the practical completion of the project.
Upon the expiration of the maintenance period, the customers will
provide a maintenance certificate and pay the retentions within the
term specified in the contract. The increase in contract assets in
2024 was mainly due to the increase in the provision of engineering
services at the end of the year. The decrease in contract assets
in 2023 was mainly due to the transfer of contract assets to trade
receivables during the year.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as
at 31 March is as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year —&1&
EREERE

Total contract assets

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to
measure expected credit losses. The provision rates for the
measurement of the expected credit losses for the contract assets
are based on those for the trade receivables as the contract assets
and the trade receivables are from the same customer bases. The
provision rates of contract assets are based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment. The Group applies the
simplified approach to provide for the ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9.
Reversal of loss allowance of HK$28,000 (2023: loss allowance of
HK$1,610,000) was recognised during the year. Details of impairment
of contract assets for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

HERAMARRTT 5 & TR RS

BREE
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 1 April 2022
—E-mEF S =T==F
=BA=+—H =H=T1—H MA—A
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET THET
9,731 11,162 16,762
27,959 5,260 5,602
31,248 27,515 25,501
97 68 65
69,035 44,005 47,930
(25) (63) -
69,010 43,952 47,930

EHEE HBEMARSOBEENANAE RE
e TRRBHHERER  KRASEBHEILD EiE
BHARFERGREIR(E - EARZSEFTIEUR
REPEMAEERKKRRT o BHTFELEEGRME
B AaNEEBRERFEEGE - AEBEEHE
BHEEES MERHESNEESREE SR
WiR - AEEREREEPRIBER BERTK
BHEEt —==FMREH - RREYPERER - &
PR HRERE RN A OEENPRAZRE
£ R-E_MFANEEEMTIEZITHRNFRE
TRRGEHEELEM - R_T_=FENEERLE
ERMNFARSHNEEBREEHRIEUA -

*

RZA=+—8 AHNEBEEMTAHRDREZRRH
L

2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET T
23,230 8,313
45,780 35,639
69,010 43,952

REREBETRES T AT ETBREEERE - 5t
BEANEERHEESBNBEXRNENZEES
UGB REAAGHNEERE SERFIERER
—REEMR AHBEMNBBEDNENEESLEE
BRER - WHESA KBRS EATEER
EEHAR - BEEBUBRELEAFZRMBETE
AEBERG A EANHEBHEESE - £FRE

REEEERE28,0008 T (T _=F : BHEE
1,610,000 7T) - HE T -_NMER T -=4F
ZAZ+—BLFEZENEENREFBSHRLR
A IS HRRMIFES4 -




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

19.

20.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 19. EHEME
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 1 April 2022
—EoMEF —E-=F —B-C-F
=A=+—H =A=+—H MA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
Transportation Mission Critical System @A Z G fiR 7 2
Solutions 1,206 1,384 2,143
Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment 7B & #0086 2 MRk 2=
Solutions and Services KR 5,161 2,018 7,227
M&E Technology Solutions and BB AT AR R TR
Engineering Services 9,277 3,969 7,481
Digital Fabrication and Maintenance B S BE AR B IR TS
Services 237 241 202
Total A5t 15,881 7,612 17,053

The Group requires certain customers under engineering service
contracts to provide upfront deposits at rates ranging from 5%
to 20% of the total contract sum. When the Group receives a
deposit before the project commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract until the full amount of the deposit
is deducted proportionately from progress payment. The increase in
contract liabilities in 2024 was mainly due to the increase in short-
term advances received from customers in relation to the provision
of engineering services at the end of the year. The decrease in
contract liabilities in 2023 was mainly due to utilisation of short-term
advances received from customers in relation to the provision of
engineering services during the year.

TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER
THREE MONTHS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2024, bank balances and cash comprise cash held
by the Group and bank deposits carrying interest at market rates
which ranged from 0.1% to 5.1% per annum (2023: ranged from
0.01% to 4.93% per annum) with original maturity of three months
or less.

As at 31 March 2024, pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted by banks to
the Group and bank borrowings of HK$15,000,000 (2023: nil) (note
23), carrying fixed interest rates ranging from 4% to 4.84% per
annum (2023: ranging from 0.6% to 3.75% per annum).

As at 31 March 2023, time deposits with original maturity over three
months carried fixed interest rates ranging from 3.67% to 3.8% per
annum.

20.

FERBRBIRERBENERETELRMHEIEZ
T EHERNFEENESEENS%E20%HF X5
H o AEBRRBRKAEEIRE - EHESHNH
BEAAHNEE BERENEMSBEAEENR
RO - R-B-NFEEHNEEEMNEERA
RERKBBEEFAHITIZRGEENEHRREG
MeR-_B_=ZFANEERITIBERANFAD
FYEN B TP B R TR ARG R G B

REPABB=EANERER BEARTE
ROBOTHEBRAS

R-T-—WE=ZA=+—08  RITEHNESEE
AEEFRFESMEIHE A=EAKATRT
BEZENTF0A%ESA%(ZBE_=F : N FEHF
0.01%%24.93%) MIHZFEFIEETE -

MR-ZB-E=A=+—0  AEBBTFEIEE
T IRITAARITRANE BT L ARIT R E (EEE
KR8 3815,000,0008 T (=2 = =4 : &) (M
23)  REIFEFEMENRA%EL.84% (— T - =4 :
N FFF0.6%E3.75%) 58 °

RZZEZ=F=A=+—H " RIBEBER=EH
B TE H3AF SR B F R E N F3.67%E3.8% ©
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RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

20. TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER 20. FIHAEB=EANEHER HEARTE
THREE MONTHS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK ROBTEBRES (@)
BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the RMEFER - NEBU T EEENRE BB
Group’s time deposits with original maturity over three months, B=EAANTEBHER  BEMRTERRBITES
pledged bank deposits, and bank balances and cash are RIREHEREE -

denominated in the following currencies:

As at 31 March

MR=A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT

HK$ BIT 31,403 61,376

Euro (“EUR”) BT ([&ocl) 259 305

Renminbi (‘RMB”) ARB(TAR®]) 82 38

uss$ ETT 33,466 32,620

Other currencies Hip g 5,023 6,611

70,233 100,950
21. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 21. EZEAREREGRES

The credit period on purchases and subcontracting of contract BEERSBAHNIERBMEERNTI0E60A -

work services ranges from 30 to 60 days. The following is an ageing INTARREFERENEZEHEINE FHER

analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at FRIRRREC AT -

the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023

—E-MmE —TC-=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B3 FERT FHT

Trade payables: B S5 EARE (@

Within 30 days 30H A 6,059 5,751
31 to 60 days 31ZE60H 192 182
61 to 90 days 61£90H a7 7
91 to 365 days 912365H 11 459
Over 365 days B3A365H 335 354
6,644 6,703
Retention payables EHRES (b) 5,502 3,412
Total trade and retention payables B ENREREMNRES
4aEs 12,146 10,115

Notes: Bt -

(@) As at 31 March 2024, trade payables of HK$14,000 were denominated (a) R-FE-FE=H=—+—H » 14,0008 E 3B
in EUR. As at 31 March 2023, trade payables of HK$6,000 were BEIABTEHE - REF-_=ZF=H=+—H - 6,000%
denominated in RMB. TCRIE ZIEITH BN RIEEHE -

(b) Retention payables to sub-contractors of contract work are interest-free ) D EERMENIRERESBEE  ARAEERE
and payable by the Group after the completion of the maintenance period BB AIHENES BT 18 BUIRIRIE B & A E B IR ST -
of the relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in the B T2 RIS S #I5 K H BIREAT 711229

relevant contracts, ranging from 1 to 2 years from the completion dates of
the respective contracts.
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A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
Accrued staff costs FEETE IR
Provision for employee related benefits & BABRAE T
Accrued expenses FEETRASE
Provision for warranties (note) IRIEHRRE B (T 3T)
Total 4
Note:
The movements of provision for warranties during the years are as follows:
At beginning of year F¥)
Additional provision RIMEE
Amounts utilised during the year FRBASHE
Reversal of unutilised amounts KBRS EER
At end of year FR
The Group provides one-year warranty to its customers for contract services for
general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty period. The amount of the
provision for the warranties is estimated based on past experience of the level of
repairs. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where
appropriate.

23. BANK BORROWINGS
The bank borrowings bear interests of 6.45%-7.42% per annum
and repayable within one year, and are denominated in HK$ and
secured by pledged deposits of HK$14,080,000 (note 20) and
deposits paid for life insurance products of HK$5,916,000 (note
15(a)).

24, PROVISION FOR CONTRACT WORKS

At beginning of year F4
Additional provision RHIMEHE
Amount utilised during the year FREASE
At end of year FR

The Group recognises provision for contract works when the
costs of meeting the performance obligations under the revenue
contracts exceed the economic benefits expected to be received.
The amount of provision is estimated based on contract costs to
completion. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis
and revised where appropriate.

22, HtENFIAREEM

2024 2023

—E-ME T =F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAExT

4,138 4,111

3,803 3,412

2,230 2,732

1,366 3,608

11,537 13,863

st -
FRRIEHBENESHMT

2024 2023

—EC-ME —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FBx FHT

3,608 642

1,366 3,611
(2,275) (326)
(1,333) (319)

1,366 3,608

FEESEPRE-FREMNSORY - BREMAHER
BB —RIERE - REMBBESTEDERBEREKFE
BfhE o AATEAS TRERS - YEEEBER THEIERT -

23. RITHEE

RITEEIRENEE.45%ET7.42% 5 B RAR—ERN
B8 - BB TEHE - WABEIBTETN14,080,00078
7T (FI3E20) R B ABRBE MAIE$5,916,0007%
7T (Bft5E15(a)) YEIE SR o

24. ERNIREHE

2024 2023
—ENEF —ET-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHT FET
16,169 =

= 16,169

(6,932) —
9,237 16,169

BERIRAHNENETORANBEBRETIRAH
FEHSESHB R ER - AEBEER S ) TI2%
B BBSRRIBETKANRANGE - REBHE
mEAEHER - WEEE B TERERT -
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For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

25. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the year are

25. JRIEBIH

FRREBEEE (BE)NEBHNT

as follows:
Impairment
of trade Accelerated tax
receivables and (accounting)
contract assets depreciation Total
B RINRIER DNERBLIE
BHEERE (B e st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT
At 1 April 2022 RZZEZ=FWHA—H 100 (121) 1)
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (note 10) (nBR) /F A BBz W77#10) (85) 11 (74)
At 31 March 2023 and R-E-=F=ZA=+—HkK
1 April 2023 —Z-=FH—H 15 (110) (95)
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (note 10) (F08R) FEABEBZEWF10) @®) 159 151
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-WE=A=+—H 7 49 56
26. JOINT OPERATION 26. EEEL

Particulars of the Group’s joint operation are as follows:

REEAEXBHFERHIINT ¢

Form of Place of
business registration Percentage of attributable
Name structure and business interest of the Group Principal activity
=L EBEBER E B i S it B rEERGEZAESL FTEXBKED
2024 2023
—EDmFE T =fF
% %
KML — Huaming Body unincorporate Hong Kong 35 35 Provision of engineering
Joint Venture service
KML - Huaming IEEAEE B R TERSE

Joint Venture

Note:  Under the joint venture agreement, the joint operators have contractually
agreed the sharing of control over the relevant activities of this body
unincorporate, hence this body unincorporate is jointly controlled by
the Group and the other joint operator. Furthermore, the relevant joint
venture agreement specifies that the Group and another party to the joint
arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities
relating to the joint arrangement, therefore this body unincorporate is
classified as joint operation.

Hiat -

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24

RESEPRH & EWEEERABTESEZIEE
ABEEIRREB)AIEHIE - Bt - AN RS A E
BRE—EEEEEETAFER - W) - 1HRIE S FE
AT AFERE S 75— A S HAER
BEZHET  HIBBEBREER - AU - ZIZA
BEREIEREEER -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. KR
Number
of shares Amount
BREEE -]
‘000 HK$'000
Fix FAExT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each HRRMEE.01E T E B
Authorised: JETE
At 31 March 2024 and 2023 RIZZWHERZT_=F=A=+—H 3,800,000 38,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREEET
At 31 March 2024 R-_ZE-_NFE=A=+—H 404,960 4,050
At 31 March 2023 R-E-_=F=RA=+—H 404,960 4,050
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as NRIRAZERESHIIAT -
follows:
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
ERTROEE [ &N
‘000 HK$'000
T FHT
At 1 April 2022 R-E-—FmMA—H 402,500 4,025
Issue of shares (note) BITRRD (B742) 2,460 25
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and RZTEZ=F=A=+—H -ZT==F
31 March 2024 MA—BR-ZZ-_MOF=A=+—H 404,960 4,050
Note:  On 26 August 2022, the Company issued a total of 2,460,000 new shares WiF : REFZZFNA=+ A LA H%WA@N‘%Z%EE/W

pursuant to the general mandate granted by the shareholders of the
Company for the purpose of awarding shares to employees under the
Share Award Scheme as set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial

AL 39BN 17 2251 )R T A1 E B 22 MR (D IRIFA L
RELEM B —ARAZIEH 7T 6 H2,460,0000 TR 17

Statements.
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the ARATEIEESZIAR AR AT IR D EE T2 5
Company’s share award scheme are included in notes 38 and 39 15D RIS RLR A B R RF M EE38 %39 ©

to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

EHNREEERAT « —ZT=
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

28.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

Share-based payment reserve

The Group’s share-based payment reserve comprise (i) the fair
value of share options vested which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy of share-based payments
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account when the
related share options are exercised, or transferred to accumulated
profits should the related share options lapse or be forfeited; and
(i) the amount to be expensed as share-based payment expenses
determined by reference to the fair value of the shares under the
share award scheme granted, taking into account all non-vesting
conditions associated with the grants on grant date. The total
expense is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
vesting periods (or on the grant date if the shares vest immediately),
with a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve
under equity. Upon vesting, the related costs of the vested shares
under the share award scheme are credited to shares under the
share award scheme, with a corresponding decrease in the share-
based payment reserve.

Other reserves

The Group’s other reserves mainly represent (i) the difference
between the nominal values of the ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through
an exchange of shares pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2018 and (i) the deemed capital
contribution from Mr. KM Luk, a controlling shareholder and an
executive director of the Company, in respect of the transfer of
2,000,000 shares to the trust of the share award scheme at nil
consideration, and details of the share award scheme are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

29.

30.

COMMITMENTS 29.

The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March
2024 (2023: nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30.

The Group had the following transactions with related parties during
the year ended 31 March 2024:

Purchase of materials from Logistic MR T TEEMARQR
Industrial Supply Company Limited (FEL I FEDE
(“Logistic Industrial”)

Rental payments HNES
K M L Limited BIEARAR

Notes:

(a) Logistic Industrial is a company over which Mr. KM Luk and Ms. Leung

Kwok Yee have significant influence. The purchase prices of goods were
mutually agreed between the parties.

b) K M L Limited is controlled by Mr. KM Luk. Rental payments were on a
mutually-agreed basis.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had no material transactions and outstanding balances with
related parties during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Group are the directors of the
Company. Their remuneration during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023 is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A

R-ZB-WE=A=+—0 AEFTEEKRER
EE(CE=F @) o

BEAR S

BEZWNF=A=+—RHIFE AEEEH
B LR TR S

2024 2023
—E-UE T =F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
MisE FHT FHT
(@) 97 9
(0) 5,735 5,735

Wi

(@ BT TREBEES L RZEEL L HHEFEAZE)
HIZNE] o Ban 2 FRIBIEH L5 1A 1E

0)  EEERAFGEEGL Y - SAS BT RE
BEET -

BREMBHRREMEMEEN RBE-Z2 N
FRZE-_ZF-_A=T—HILFE  ~EEHEH
B W MBRRZ P MAREER -

RREEASHMH
AEEHRERABRARAES - HERBE—
EoMER-FT-=F=A=+—HLFENFH
Wira B IRRIEEe#E T -
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RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

31.

32.

33.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution schemes which
are registered under the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying
with the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
voluntary contributions, the Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000, which matches contribution of the
employee.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group at rate 5% of the employee’s basic
salary.

The amount recognised in profit or loss of HK$2,897,000 (2023:
HK$2,931,000) during the year ended 31 March 2024 represents
contributions paid and payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity of the
Group, comprising issued share capital and accumulated profits.

Management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly
taking into account the cost of capital and the risk associated
with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the issuance of new shares and the raise of borrowings.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of financial assets
and liabilities which are due to be received or settled within one
year approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amounts at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.
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32.

33.

BABERGE

REEZEFREHKEE - W HRIBBERINGTE
GOIE BN RBIE R E S (R TR TF+ A
RIBRBINEATERIGHIANIL) MLl - ZEFTEEE
HEFEANEETHAER  BAKEZEES R
B o RBREER KA BREERAASINE Z
EEAEEREESENRRGTE - HBB2N
BEEEE MR T RF+ A HRZEM
AREEZIEMEERAS BB E -

BMBESHEZKEMS - BASEBFREERIN -
REBBERBESHE AT EXNNESWBIEER -
A A R A LFR30,0008 T AR « 32 EH R
HEE Z HRE -

BEEAFTSEDEFI 2ESRERERASEZ
BEEFONIEF AR -

REBE-_Z-_NE=A=+—RHILFE  NBx+
522,897,000/ 7T (T T — =4 : 2,931,000/ 7T)
EAREBRIFA S RAEENH REMN RENZS
STEIMHER -

EXREBEE

AEBEREBEAURRAEBAEBEEASE
g2 ARERBLLEBREGERAER ATE
RABH

AEENEAREHARERGE MEDER - B
BEITRARREEN

AEBEREBRFARERAKRARAERGHENAE
% RS EARNRE - AEEMBBEITHRN
REEEE  TEHEBRERLEE-

ERMTANDIAERAARERER

ERECHEHR —FARRREETZEREER
BzARE ARNZETAZHRG/EY - &
S EER/RTFLAZ AR ERAREENSAR

+

Dff MR m o

EREERABNAABNGAZITAABER
ERHERER S CRHZBEHEHEERIN PRI E
LER



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BZE=—Z_WF=A=+—HILFE

33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 33. EMIENAAEBERAAEBEER(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the UTAREGTAREBEN T ERRE
fair values:
The fair values of the non-current portion of deposits and lease e RHERBZIERDIT P 2 ARBEERERR
liabilities have been calculated by discounting the expected future BEELUGE - FERRRFSFHNTAEMNRT
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar MEMBARARKR S RETE - FERE - BAA
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. In the opinion of the REAEEESAZARBELEEAEZE - WHER
directors, since their carrying amounts are not significantly different BRZESMIAZARE -

from their respective fair values, no disclosure of the fair values of
these financial instruments is made.

Fair value hierarchy DREEBR
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TREIAEFEEEZ AREFEER :
of the Group’s assets:

Assets measured at fair value: BARBEHECZEE
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_WFE=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
EATHBB AR ETE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
EX BX
WERWSZ ABREHA TAUHE
BE £t WABE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E-& (BE=®) (B=H)
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER THERT
Financial assets at fair value BARBEHABRNEREE
through profit or loss 925 2,000 6,382 9,307
As at 31 March 2023 RZTZ=F=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ERATIEE AR EFE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
BX BX
KBRS Z ABEHA TR
WE HiE BAHE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
E-H (E=H) (B=H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT FET
Financial assets at fair value BARBEFABRNEREE
through profit or loss 1,588 - 6,214 7,802
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For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

33.

34.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023.

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy:

33.

EMIANDAEBRAAERER ()

DARERER @)
RZB-_HWHE=R=+—HBRZZE=-=F=FH
=+—B AEEHERAREHEZEASREA

g -

DERARERBRE=ZRANZ AR EAEHER

HK$'000
FAExT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2022 RZZBEZZFHA—BZREE 7,236
Additions bl 8,233
Settlements wE (8,233)
Transfer to Level 1 as listed equity investment upon FIERSE A — R ETIRAIRE
maturity (1,323)
Gain from fair value adjustment recognised in other REAMKEREBAER A BERARKFE
gains and losses, net 23
Interest income recognised in other income REARA AR 2 FLEWA 267
Exchange realignment PE N BT 11
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZZBZ=F=A=+—HEK
ZE-=FHA—AZEEE 6,214
Additions 0 973
Settlements e (973)
Loss from fair value adjustment recognised in other BAﬁﬁMﬂZﬁn&Eﬂ% NERZ D BB TR
gains and losses, net (26)
Interest income recognised in other income RE AR A AR 2 FEWA 216
Exchange realignment FE N EHTHR (22)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NFE=ZA=+—HZE@EE 6,382
During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no transfers HE-Z— m¢ A=+—BIEE  HmemiéE
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no LKepaEms /‘ﬁ@;ﬁrgﬂ%—i&gﬂ% *i&Fﬁ

transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities. During the year ended 31 March 2023, except for the
transfer of an equity-linked note from Level 3 to Level 1 upon
maturity and converted as a listed equity investment, there were
no other transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1
and Level 2 and no other transfers into or out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets EWMEE

At amortised cost ?ﬁféﬁﬁﬁizﬁ

At fair value through profit or loss NI S W =Fd
Financial liabilities SREE

At amortised cost R ERCR

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24
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B  TEFE=ANEANEL -BHE-T =
FZA=t+—RALFE " ﬂfHXm%ff’]mTJ{’rlJﬁHETHa

FZRERE-RABRB EHRAKESIN 2
REENSRMBENS  AnEFSEEME—
R — RFE VR - TREE M E = R EARE
Yo

ERTA
RBREFERSENeMTAZREAMBENT

SRITEER
2024 2023
—ENE —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
110,338 132,048
9,307 7,802
32,700 22,006
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 34. $RMIE @
Financial risk management objectives and policies BRRBREEEERBR

The Group’s principal financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months,
bank balances and cash, trade and retention payables, other
payables and accruals and lease liabilities. Details of the major
financial instruments and the Group’s relevant accounting policies
are disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below.

Currency risk

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, certain bank
balances and cash, time deposits with original maturity over three
months, trade receivables and trade payables of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. US$, RMB, EUR, Australian
Dollar ("AU$"), Pound sterling ("GBP"), Singapore dollars (“SG$”)
and New Taiwan dollars (“NT$”). The carrying amounts of the
Group’s bank balances and cash, time deposits with original
maturity over three months, trade receivables and trade payables
denominated in foreign currencies at the end of each reporting
period are as follows:

Financial assets

AEENTIETRHMTABKEEZHRUGIAE - EftE
WEMRE - AHERRTER - RIBA@BB=
BEANESRFR - RITHEBRERRE BHENFE
LENRES  BEMENREREAERARES
BfE - TEERTARAEEABE I BRNFE
ARG BTSRRI RS ER.

AEEeRMIAEENTIERRAERRER - FIX
Rk - EERREAHEZRER  EFRILRE
ERZERR 2 WK A AR T o

gl

FEFRAABEAABENSBMEE - BTRITHE
#EkEe RIFABE=EANERER BES
FEUTRIA & B 5 FE R FIRIASNE (BT ~ AR -
BT RT(T&zT)) ~ R ([HEE]) - FhngT
(T#RT ) XA RF A ((HEMW]))FIE - N
BERRIMNEFNIENAEBRTER LIRS - R
HABB=EANERFR  BSREFRUALE
SENFENEREERT

Financial liabilities

SREE SRas
2024 2023 2024 2023
—ETF —T-=F —E-NE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FExT FHT
Uss$ =T 39,848 38,834 = =
GBP R 3,483 3,318 - =
EUR BT 259 305 14 =
RMB AR 82 38 - 6
NT$ ek 79 47 - =
SG$ s 16 825 - =
AUS$ BT 6 6 - -

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Company monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does
not expect any significant movements in the US$/HKS$ exchange
rates. Thus, there is no sensitivity analysis on US$ denominated
financial assets.

REBERBIWBWMINEL BB - AT - RRRES
ES i SINE B I A A T B E B AP EAIME R

i o
2

mpE T BTN - REBTER T BT
RWEAEMEARELE - Rt - WEAKTINENS
BREEBREIN -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change of 10% in foreign
currencies, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit after tax due to changes in the financial assets and liabilities.

GBP g
EUR BT
RMB AREE
NT$ ek
AUS$ SRIT
SG$ T

Interest rate risk

The Group was exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in bank
balances and cash and pledged bank deposits as at 31 March
2024 and 2028.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group was also exposed to
fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate time deposits with
original maturity over three months.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate its
exposure associated with interest rate risk. However, management
of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of management of the Group, the expected change
in interest rate will not have a significant impact on the interest
income or expenses on payments for bank balances and pledged
bank deposits, hence sensitivity analysis is not presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to discharge the
obligations by counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position at the end of the reporting period.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables, contract
assets, financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original
maturity over three months and bank balances and cash.
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34.

WMI A
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)

E¥mp (&)

TRV MERR - EFEEMBEBRITTEN
BT AEERRRENEAEREERBEE
BEINE T BEEE10% R IBE BN BRE DT

2024 2023
—ECNEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
291 277

23 26

7 3

7 4

1 1

1 69

FUZE B
RIBE-_NER-ZE-_=F=A=+—0 A&H
AIRTEM KRS R AERRTERARERESRE
F= @b o

RIE-NER-ZTE-_=F=A=+—0  A&£E
NTEEAEFRETHRIPABB=EANTH
BHRHOARBEFERR -

AN 62 B 3 S 450 P A A) A0 2R b Y DA ORR 4 EL B R M) R 9
B o AT AEBEEREEENEARNNEE
RS Z BEDPE AN X ER -

AEBEEERR  MEEFEHHTSEH S
ARZ M RITHESRRERRRITFROALELSE
T2 AT E25BRED -

EERER BT
AEFERBHNRAEERRREARERRZZHTF
TEEMBAEEERMBER  RERBESFE
KM BARRNKALE B ERTREENRE
B - ARBEEERREZELARAAEFARSR
MEREE  BHEEIE  AMNEE  stAHM
RN FIR - RERENTEZMEE - BEMR
TER - RIS ABB=EANERFRRRITE
BARRE -
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for the determination of credit limits
and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and define credit limits for customer.
The level of credit granted must not exceed a predetermined level
set by management. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under the
ECL model on trade receivables and contract assets individually.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets in terms of geographical location as these
receivables and assets which accounted for 100% (2023: 100%)
of the total trade receivables and 98.9% (2023: 98.4%) of the total
contract assets as at 31 March 2024, were mainly in Hong Kong.

The Group has concentration of credit risks on trade receivables
and contract assets with exposure limited to certain customers.
Receivables from the five largest customers amounting to
HK$35,703,000 (2023: HK$26,857,000) comprised approximately
92.4% (2023: 92.6%) of the Group’s trade receivables and 94.2%
(2023: 92.4%) of the Group’s total contract assets as at 31 March
2024. As at 31 March 2024, 77.3% (2023: 76.7%) of the Group’s
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer.

Pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over
three months and bank balances and cash

The Group has a concentration of credit risk on pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months
and bank balances deposited with a few major banks. The credit
risk on these balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with good reputation and with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Management of the Group regularly reviews and assesses the
credit quality of the counterparties. The Group uses 12-month ECLs
to assess the loss allowance for financial assets included in other
receivables, deposits and prepayments since these receivables are
not past due and there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Based on internal credit assessment,
the directors of the Company consider that these financials assets
are with low credit risk due to the short-term nature and the
probability of default is negligible. Hence, no loss allowance was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).

Other than the concentration risk as disclosed above, the Group
does not have any significant concentration of credit risk.

34.

- =N )]
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)

EE R R FETE ()
B SRR RAKEES AR A EE

AREEREEERR  AREEEEEZIR— /)
B AEETEERBELEEMRE - BEREAHE
PRl AEBERAABEENS ZRFHEERP
MERARRREPAENEERE - IRHER
KFENGHBBERERERENKF - BF—KE
B8 EPHBARE LTS - ETHMESREF @ Ui
RERIRAEREIE - WRBHER - b - AEE
HHEFREFIARADEEREBEMEEHRE
AEFETRENDE - UM T - ARREZRA
FEBEZEERRD KRERHE -

AEBEEHRUGFBRENEERIBAES DB
EERREFETEERE  ANZEESHEKRFE
FPANEER " E-_WE=R=1+—BhEEFE
WRRIE100% (Z B = =4 : 100%) RESHEE
#798.9% (ZE = =4 : 98.4%) °

AEBABRERNE TEEFNE SERFEREY
BEEPEERR R-E-_WE=A=+—H -
JEU K& F 708 435,703,0008 T (T - =4 :
26,857,000/ 70) G N E BB 5 UGB 492.4%
(ZZE==F 1 92.6%) RAEBEBAENEEI2%
TEZ=F1024%) R E_WNF=A=+—
H AEEEZERRFIEFR77.3%(ZT=_=4F :
76.7%) BEWAREBR AT FFUE o

EBFRITIFA - [RE/H] H 38 =185 89 EHFH
KURRITHEA R H 2
AEEEENSERRTER - REHABE=@
FH)E BT 5RO B — e = RARTTHYIRIT A AR S
FEERR - ZEHEBROEERBRAR  FARSY
FHRBERIFIBEREETREBIENRE
BEERZIRIT

FABRMBERHE - me RIENHEZ LHEE

FEEEREFTHRELIGRZEFINESE
- AEEER12EARAEEBRIEITAR
R EWTIR - e RIANKIBEZ EREENBERR
- F RS RUGRIAY S H & B YRR E
EERRILEEAREN - READEETE - A2
AIESRAANEEEE RENR LR B - &
ZEEREEERREE - Bl RBE-Z—-N
FoAZT - RAULFETERABRRE (T =
F:5)-

B EX PR EE R RSN -
BREPEERE

AR B AT AT HoAth

EHAREEERAT « —B-=/“NEER
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 34. SWMIAG@
Financial risk management objectives and policies MR EE EERBUR (8
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =B AR EFFS ()
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TR ENRAEBEERRZEELCE RS
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which BRERE - F2ERNGBMER GRIEEMER L EE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information NHABERANKE INELTER) - KR=A
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging ST —AZFREBRBROE FERIEERTHEE
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross REKEEZEREE -
carrying amounts for financial assets and contract assets.
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_WE=A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f8A
BHEEESR RENEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F-BE FoBE 123 fE R % st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET TET
Trade receivables Z 5 e A - - - 38,671 38,671
Contract assets BHEE - - - 69,035 69,035
Financial assets included in other FHAH A EURIE -
receivables, deposits and R RENHEZ
prepayments TREE 1,465 - - - 1,465
Pledged bank deposits BHEMRITER 24,664 = = = 24,664
Bank balances and cash RITEHERS 45,569 - - - 45,569
71,698 - - 107,706 179,404
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=F=A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+-1@A
BHEEER BFERESREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—F&RR ERER FRE 7% mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FHT
Trade receivables B S EMGOR - - - 33,168 33,168
Contract assets BHEE - - - 44,005 44,005
Financial assets included in other AR REYGE -
receivables, deposits and B RBENTIEZ
prepayments SREE 2,092 - - - 2,092
Pledged bank deposits BHEBBITER 14,004 - - - 14,004
Time deposits with original maturity ~ RE|HIHBB=1EA K
over three months EBER 12,925 - - - 12,925
Bank balances and cash RITHEB KRR S 74,021 - - = 74,021
108,042 - - 77,173 180,215
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract assets
and financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments as at the end of the reporting period are reconciled to

the opening loss allowances as follows:

34.

- =N )]
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)

EE/m R R E TG ()

RBEMR - EHRERTE - aOEBEERFTAEM
FEWRIR - mE AN RENSREE 2 HARE
EREEMYEBRRE ZHERET

Financial assets
included in other

receivables,
Trade Contract deposits and
receivables assets prepayments Total
AR fLREW
RE - Ee
RAEMRIE
€5 EWRE BHEE HemEE wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FAET FAT
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—FMA—H 557 46 = 603
Impairment losses, net REBEFE 3,611 1,610 = 5,221
Amount written off as WEEATIRE/EE
uncollectible - (1,603) - (1,603)
At 31 March 2023 and RZEZ=F=A=+—H
1 April 2023 r=ZZ=FWA—A 4,168 53 - 4,221
Reversal of impairment REBERLEFE
losses, net (22) (28) - (50)
Amount written off as HEH AT IR EI R £ 58
uncollectible (4,115) - - (4,115)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZNFE=A=+—H 31 25 - 56

The estimated loss rates and risk level are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group made reversal
of provision HK$22,000 (2023: provision of HK$3,611,000) and
reversal of provision HK$28,000 (2023: provision of HK$1,610,000)
for trade receivables and contract assets, respectively. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, decrease in the provision for
impairment allowance was mainly due to the write-off of the amount
as uncollectable for long outstanding balance. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, the increase in provision for impairment
allowance was mainly due to the provision for losses recognised on
a long outstanding balance.

EETBERE MERERIRBELBRENEHE
BAWRHEHGEE  TERBEFTBERAKE
AEVAESHATEEERHEL B - BIEETE R
HAEMOME - ARRBEEFANBBERMREE
o

BE-_Z-NF=-ZA=1+—ALFE  KEEHREZ
SR GRIA R A HEED RIVEL B ## E 22,0007
TT(ZZ =% : ##3,611,000/%7T) R EEEE
28,000/ T (ZZ = =4 : #1%1,610,000%7T) ° &
E-TZ-NE=ZA=+—HILFE  BRERERD
FTEARRPAEELBOMBE AT KBNS
% -BHE_E-_=F=A=1+—HItFE  RE
BEREHENEERRAREEEHERAEISE
BATE »
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34.

35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of unexpected fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group is required
to pay.

R-ZE-mMFE=ZA=+—H
EHRNTAREMRES
STARMEN AL ER B

As at 31 March 2024
Trade and retention payables
Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals HemaE
Bank borrowings BITEE
Lease liabilities HEAE

As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H

34.

SRIT A
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)
REERDESRRE  AEBESERGIFELRRE

BREZENRSMREFEYKF  UBENAEE
BEED MRERSREBREEINPNTE -

TRAMAEEITESBREBENHR T ENEHIE

Trade and retention payables
Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals

BHRNFEAREMNRE S
ATAE NS LER B A
MEREE

Lease liabilities HEEE

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2024, performance guarantees of approximately
HK$13,768,000 (2023: HK$15,842,000) were given by banks
in favour of the Group’s customer as security for the due
performance and observance of the Group’s obligations under
the contracts entered into between the Group and its customer. If
the Group failed to provide satisfactory performance to its customer
to whom the performance guarantees had been given, such
customer may demand the banks to pay the customer the sum or
sum stipulated in such demand. The Group would become liable to
compensate such banks accordingly. The performance guarantees
would be released upon completion of the contract works. The
performance guarantees were granted under banking facilities.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24

Mo ZRENEBEERAEFAENNRZFEH
AR RR S RERE
On demand
or within 1 year 1to 3 years Total
RERIMER —E=f st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
12,146 - 12,146
2,230 - 2,230
16,064 - 16,064
3,206 172 3,378
33,646 172 33,818
10,115 - 10,115
2,732 - 2,732
6,188 3,378 9,566
19,035 3,378 22,413
35. BHER

RZZTE-_WME=A=+—8 BHERD
13,768,000/ L (ZZF = =4 : 15,842,000/ L)
BITUAEBEFASTAEL  (EAEEEHR
BT AEERASEEHEZEFIYNEHNETES
MER - HARERBREL TEOEROERTS
RESARENBY  ZEFAEERRITHHESE
NEZFRBRRZERKPFTHIE - NEBEERL
BERZERITELHE - BHOERBRAHTIE
% TR - BOBRRBERRITRIERDE -
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36.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 36. MERERBRME
FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) FEHFBEERH
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had non- HEZT-_=F=-A=+—HLFE K&
cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of EWECHELHIELIEREREEZFER
HK$9,311,000 each in respect of lease arrangements for EEEREERES11,00087T
properties.
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BMETBEEZAEEH
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITEE HESE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
At 1 April 2022 KT —FPWA—H - 6,320
Changes from financing cash flows MERSNELH = (6,194)
Interest paid classified as operating cash ~ D fEAKLEBRESRENEHFE
flows = (167)
New leases Mg - 9,311
Interest expense FEFAZ - 167
Covid-19-related rent concessions from KE—%AHEARCovid- 198 T & &R
a lessor - (67)
Termination of a lease contract HRIE—mAEE YRR = @11)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-E-_=F=A=+—H8K
—E-=FNA—H - 9,159
Changes from financing cash flows MERSRES 15,000 (5,835)
Interest paid classified as operating cash DA AKEE S RENEHH A
flows - (351)
Interest expense FEFAZ - 351
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-_WF=R=+—H 15,000 3,324
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZHSRLHEE

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of

cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities
Within financing activities

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant

contingent liabilities (2023: nil).

SARSRERZEERSRMIBARELT

2024 2023

—E_UF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

R EBE BN 507 315
REtE EBEHENA 5,835 6,194
6,342 6,509

37. HAREE

KABE(CT_=F: ) -

EHNREEERAT « —ZT=
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38.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Upon passing an ordinary resolution on 20 September 2017, the
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which will remain valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on 16 October 2017. The major terms of the Share
Option Scheme are set out below:

(0

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the directors and
employees of the Group have made or may make to the
Group.

The participants included any director or employee of the
Group which, in the opinion of the Company’s board of
directors, has contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
might be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. The number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director in excess of
0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

In relation to each grantee of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme, the right of the grantee to exercise
the option shall be in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and the period to be notified by the board
of directors of the Company to each grantee which shall not
exceed 10 years from the date upon which the options are
deemed to be granted and accepted.

The exercise price of an option will be determined by the

board of directors of the Company and will not be less than

the highest of:

o the closing price of the share on the date of grant;

. the average closing price of the share for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

o the nominal value of the share.

A consideration of HK$10 per grant is payable on
acceptance of the offer of grant of options.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

38.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

9,800,000 options were granted to Mr. CL Chan, a former director
of the Group, and employees of the Group on 2 January 2020 for
the provision of services to the Group. The vesting period of the
first tranche of share options was from 2 January 2020 to 30 June
2020 (“First Tranche”). The vesting period of the second tranche
of share options was from 2 January 2020 to 1 January 2021
(“Second Tranche”). The vesting period of the third tranche of
share options was from 2 January 2020 to 30 June 2021 (“Third
Tranche”). The details of the First Tranche, Second Tranche and
Third Tranche are identical except for the difference in vesting
periods as mentioned above. The fair value of the share options at
the date of grant was calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model. The fair value of the share options granted on 2 January
2020 is HK$1,057,000.

9,000,000 options were granted to Mr. CL Chan, a former director
of the Group, and employees of the Group on 18 April 2023 for
the provision of services to the Group. The vesting period of the
fourth tranche of share options was from 18 April 2023 to 17 April
2024 (“Fourth Tranche”). The vesting period of the fifth tranche of
share options was from 18 April 2023 to 14 October 2024 (“Fifth
Tranche”). The details of the Fourth Tranche and Fifth Tranche are
identical except for the difference in vesting periods as mentioned
above. The fair value of the share options at the date of grant was
calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing Model. The fair value
of the share options granted on 18 April 2023 is HK$292,000.

The inputs into the valuations of the share options were as follows:

Share price at grant date

TT1E(E

Exercise price

Risk-free rate (note a)
Expected life (note b)

Expected dividend yield TEEAR B &

Expected volatility (note c)
Notes:

(a) Risk-free rate is determined by reference to the prevailing rates on debt
securities from Thomson Reuters and Bloomberg L.P.

b) Expected life is the exercise period of the share options.

(c) Expected volatility is estimated by calculating the historical daily share price
volatility of the stock price of the Company.

JRHR R (Bate)
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AR B ERAE

ERBRFE (K eta)
B FH (Batb)

IR Rt 8 ()

R-T-F&— F — 49,800,000 &R T A
SEAESREBLEREASERE @ (FRALSE
EiRHEREHE®R - sHERENREBSHA-T

ZE-A-HE-Z-ZFRA=TA(E#D -
“HEBERENREBHRA_T_TF-A_HA=

T —F—-A—A(%E#]) - BEoHERES
FEMA—T _TF-—A-HEZZ=_—%A
=+B(E=4#t]) - it - FoRRE=HERE
RFFIEHER - X EBRATEER - REH
AR AR EFR —EdE T EERE -
RZZE_EF-A-_ABRENERENAARES
1,057,000 7T ©

R=ZZF==%FMA+/\HHEF9,000,000/% ERERT
AEEREEREFEERAEEREE  fEARAX
EEREHRBHE®R - BN ERENEBSH A
TEo=—FEPA+N\BE-_E-_NFENA++H(E
m#tl) - FRAMERENFEERA-_S_=FTA
+NBEZZ-_MF+A+MHE((ERH]) - FW
HRERMBRIENFBRR - ¥ EXFTEESR
GHEEZE REHABERENARBEFER-IEH
EEBEAGE N-BE-=FmA+ N \BERLEHN
BERCHE R A £ (B 5292,00078 7T ©

BEIEMGENMABERET

Share options Share options

granted on granted on

18 April 2 January

2023 2020

i R-B-TF

mA+N\BEEH —AZBEE

B RBRE BB AL

HK$0.166 HK$0.250

0.166# 7T 0.250/ 7T

HK$0.171 HK$0.259

0171787 0.2597% 7T

3.000% 2.056%

5 years 5 years

54 5%

13.510% 0%

50.35% 54.96%

Hiat -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 38. BRAERE (E
The following share options were outstanding under the Share RERN - BIREFTEIIET 2 T3 B ARE & RETT
Option Scheme during the year: & -
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
T HITEE BREHE IRETHTRE fERRERE
HKS$ per share ’000 HK$ per share '000
BgRET TR BRET T
At 1 April RYA—H 0.259 6,000 0.259 6,000
Granted during the year & A H 0.171 9,000 = =
Forfeited during the year ~ & P98 1L 0.192 (2,800) = =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.208 12,200 0.259 6,000
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options REREFEE RMKRITE BRI (TEE RITEE
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: PN

Exercise prices

Number of HK$
options per share Exercise periods
TEE
BRESE FREBET TS
As at 31 March 2024 1,200,000 0.259 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2025
BlE-—Z2-mE=A=+—H —E-_EEtA-HE-ZE-HE&—A—H
1,800,000 0.259 2 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
B —§—-A-HE-ZT-_HF—A—H
2,300,000 0.259 1 July 2021 to 1 January 2025
—_—HtA—-HE-ZE-HF—HA—H
3,450,000 0.171 18 April 2024 to 17 April 2028
—E_NMFEMA+NAEZZE-N\FHNA+LH
3,450,000 0.171 15 October 2024 to 17 April 2028
—E-NE+A+ERE=ZE-N\ENA++tH
As at 31 March 2023 1,300,000 0.259 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2025
HIE-T-=F=A=+—H T Ft+tA-HEZZ-AF—A—H
2,400,000 0.259 2 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
- F—A-HE-ZT-RF—A—H
2,300,000 0.259 1 July 2021 to 1 January 2025
—E-FtA-HEZZ-RF—A—H
The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$202,000 ﬁ’\%ﬁi*fflﬂifﬁ =+— E¢¢J§ : $§%@ﬁ§
(2023: nil) during the year ended 31 March 2024. 2,000,000 (2023: RIEIRAEFI 202,000 0 (ZT =4 : ) - )&
nil) share options were forfeited during the year ended 31 March EZFT-WNF=A=+—H JJ:EI?\? EARE l%qt
2024 due to the resignation of certain employees of the Group, 1B B BT )2 482,000,00010 (ZF == : #&) %
resulting in the transfer of the corresponding share-based payment *E B HERE R IR0 EERE A B RE#543,00078 T (=
reserve of HK$43,000 (2023: nil) to accumulated profits/(losses). To=F  \EREREN (B8 -
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A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

38.

39.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

At at 31 March 2024, the Company had 12,200,000 (2023:
6,000,000) share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 12,200,000 (2023: 6,000,000) additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$122,000
(2023: HK$60,000) and share premium of HK$2,633,400 (2023:
HK$1,494,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 12,200,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 3.0% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date; and the total number of shares
available for further issuance pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
was 12,000,000 shares, representing approximately 3.0% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 5 November 2018, the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the purpose of
recognising the contributions by certain eligible persons for the
growth and development of the Group and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

Eligible persons of the Share Award Scheme include any employee
of the Group; any executive or non-executive director (including
any independent non-executive director) of the Company, any of
its subsidiaries, customers, suppliers, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
shareholders of any member of the Group or any invested entities,
any person or entity which has contributed to the Group or its
business; and any other person selected by the board of directors,
and if applicable, including its executive committee at its sole
discretion, provided that the eligible persons for participation in the
Share Award Scheme (the “Selected Participants”) remain
at all times after the date of grant and on the relevant vesting date
being eligible person of the Group.

38.

39.

BB E ()

R-ZTB-_WE=A=+—8 AR FBREFERE
#1215 12,200,0008% (ZZ — =4 : 6,000,0000%)
B ARITEZBRE - READAINRTEARARE
B BEIOTENARTENEREEESREINET
12,200,0000% (== = =4 : 6,000,0000%) AN &) &
WY  WEBHMNE LR A122,0008 L (Z T =4 :
60,000/ 7T) & B fn % 82,633,400 T (- T - =
F : 14,494,000% 1) (RETEITHAL) -

P EZEHEHRERAE  BRIEERESE - AQ
RIBEA 12,200,00010 RITIEEFEAHE - (ERB/TAE
KARRD#3.0% ¢ RIEFBAE B ] i — 55
TTHV RS D 488k A12,000,000/% B 17 » 153% B AR A
BB TRD 493.0% °

B A% 52 B =t
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

39.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The maximum number of shares currently permitted to be granted
under the Share Award Scheme is limited to 10% of the total
number of issued shares as at the date on which the Share Award
Scheme is adopted by the board of directors. The maximum
number of shares which may be awarded to each eligible person
in the Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company in any
12-month period from time to time.

Selected Participants are selected and the number of shares to
be awarded under the Share Award Scheme is determined by the
board of directors. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme are purchased by a trustee (the “Trustee”) from
the open market out of cash contributed by the Group or by way
of gift and be held on trust for the Selected Participant until such
shares are vested with the Selected Participants in accordance with
the provisions of the Share Award Scheme.

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any
shares held on trust for the Group or the Selected Participants.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company did not
repurchase any (2023: repurchased 185,000) of its own shares
through the Trustee from open market. During the year ended
31 March 2023, the total amount paid to acquire the shares was
HK$44,000 and has been deducted from equity. The aggregate
amount paid to acquire the shares and the fair value of the share
contribution of HK$44,000 has been deducted from equity and the
shares were classified as treasury shares of the Company as they
were not yet awarded to any Selected Participants.

The movements in the Company’s shares held under the Share
Award Scheme during the year are as follows:

At 1 April 2022 RZTE-_—FMA—H
RIE—MIREBATIIR G (Hfi227)

Issuance of new shares under the general
mandate (note 27)

Repurchases of shares & B AR 17
Vested during the year FANEB
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RNZZE—

39.

=F=A=+—H

;kZZFE-_=FmHA—H

Vested during the year FANHE

At 31 March 2024
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R 43 22 By =t &1 (4

RBR D BB EEERENSZSROEE URNE
EZERMABRNZHAIE ADBTROLENI10%
AR o BRI 218 A BR A ey B 22 @5t &1 7]
BEIRETEARERATNRSKRHEEARAF
PREEITRMDEEA1%RR -

BERZEEMBEEHET - MRERO B SIS
FTRONEMHEE BESTSHET - RIERD ZB)E
B TRHOBRO EHEZFEA ([ZFEAD AREE
REMNREN DT SBEASAREIA - WAE
RPAREESRERS  EERFRORERD
REE RGBT IRREE2RERILE

REANCUREESEE2 B EETRRFTHN
ERRDTTEIRERE -

REBEE-ZT-_NEF=ZA=+—ALFE  KRFIL
EEBITABAHAMSELTMNEAS RN (=
T4 : fEE185,000/%) - HE-_T-_=ZF=
A=+—BLEE BRERDAINESEA
44,0008 7T + B BTG - BMKEBRMHINZ
BT R IEAZ RS E44,00098 7T BHREAR
B Efggsss  CAESTIBRAEZSRGE
DEARDNBNEFRD -

B EM BE TR 2 AR ARGRENZ S
o

Shares held under
the Share Award Scheme

RIER R

SrElFE2RG
Number of Value of
ordinary shares shares
EEREE RHEE
HK$'000
TR
2,930,000 709
2,460,000 25
185,000 44
(1,275,000) (891)
4,300,000 387
(1,830,000) (18)
2,470,000 369




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—Z_MF=A=+—HILFE

39.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) 39. RpHEEETE(FE)
During the year ended 31 March 2023, 2,410,000 awarded shares REBEEZT-_=F=A=+—HLLFE BER
were granted under the Share Award Scheme with a fair value 12 2B ET219% 112,410,000/ BB D - RAES
of HK$383,000. The fair value of awarded shares granted during 383,000 c REBEZE-_T-_=F=A=+—H1I
the year ended 31 March 2023 is estimated based on the share FERHORBRON AR EBEIRERZL A
price of the Company on dates of grant of HK$0.20. Equity-settled RARMRKEO.20B LM ihaT - HE=ZZT —MF = A
share award arrangement expense of HK$247,000 was recognised =t+—HLFE Eﬁéu R EERG RE TR
during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$494,000). 247,000 7T (ZZE =4 : 494,000/ 7T) °
The fair value of share awards granted during the year was estimated RERBHOEERRMD AR B2 EHITER
as at the date of grant by reference to the closing price per share as MNERARESEMBEREMENR L BE®ET - I
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange, RERHEEOMEEEBIGY c ARERED
taking into account all non-vesting conditions associated with the KERNBEBIANEERE -
grants. The expected dividends during the vesting period were
taken into account in the measurement of fair value.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, 1,830,000 shares were BRI () S ENET &) - 1,830,000 (=T ==
vested to eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme F 11,275,000 RBRM ERBE_S_MNF=A
(2023: 1,275,000). =+—HIEFERBTEERBEE -
225,000 (2023: 260,000) awarded shares were forfeited during FR - BAEER TEEFFEMmZU225,0008% (=
the year due to the resignation of certain employees of the Group. T =4 : 260,000/%) ELER 1D - BEGEAEEARR
The awarded shares were forfeited during the year, resulting in 1 E BT F 53,0008 70 (ZF = =4 : 41,000/
the transfer of the corresponding share-based payment reserve of TOERE 2R, (BE) -
HK$53,000 (2023: HK$41,000) to accumulated profits/(losses).
At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company E’\Ttt/ﬁ ZEYHRERAE - REBERD ﬁ@]ﬂri 2
had 2,470,000 shares held under the share award scheme, which NEIHEA2,470,0000 8815 - (RREITE AR
represented approximately 0.6% of the Company’s shares in issue EITRR (9 #70.6%
as at that date.
Movements in the number of the Awarded Shares granted under BRI D BB 5T 814 A SREN IR (D 20 B B R H A
the Share Award Scheme and their related average fair value as AV RRERT -
follows:
2024 2023
ZECNF —T-=F
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
award price awards award price awards
R B INAETS 5
IRADER REROHE R B RERHEAR
HKS$ per share ’000 HKS$ per share '000
BRERT TR BRAT T
At 1 April RMA—H 0.26 3,750 0.34 2,875
Granted during the year FARKH - - 0.19 2,410
Vested during the year FANEB 0.29 (1,830) 0.31 (1,275)
Forfeited during the year FRKK 0.25 (225) 0.32 (260)
At 31 March =A=+—H 0.22 1,695 0.26 3,750
EHEREEEERAR « —B=/"NFFR
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For the yearended 31 March 2024 BE—T_MF=A=+—HILFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. ERATFHAMRRE
COMPANY
2024 2023
—B-NEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAxT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RITBARNIRE 107,569 107,569
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amount due from subsidiaries FEULHI /B A R FRIE 23,910 25,819
Prepayments B3R 221 439
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTEESR 328 328
24,459 26,586
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Accruals et E 63 291
Amount due to a subsidiary N —MEMB A RRIE 10 10
73 301
Net current assets REEEFE 24,386 26,285
Net assets BEEFRE 131,955 133,854
EQUITY Es
Share capital A& 4,050 4,050
Reserves (nots) GG 127,905 129,804
Total equity R 131,955 133,854
Note: Bist
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AR EEFEBLIT
Share-based
Share Other payment Accumulated
premium reserves reserve losses Total
LARS 47 2 B
B4R E Hibf#E e 28 Fob
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
(notes 38, 39)
(H1:£38 - 39)
At 1 April 2022 RZZEZ_FMA—H 29,598 107,549 1,205 (6,101) 132,251
Profit for the year F ) - - - 5,461 5,461
Equity-settled share award T 4 AR 7 B2 2 B
arrangements (note 39) (H1:£39) - - 494 = 494
Forfeiture of share awards (note 39) SRR D 428 (H77#39) - = (41) 4 -
Vesting of shares under share award & () $2E)zt 2153 @A)
scheme (note 39) (H17#39) - - (391) = (391)
Dividend paid BARE (8,011) - - - (8,011)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023
21,587 107,549 1,267 (599) 129,804
Loss for the year ) - - - (2,330) (2,330)
Equity settled share option agreements #7545 fg ik i 2 HF (472238)
(note 38) - - 202 - 202
Equity-settled share award e E R S 2 B
arrangements (note 39) (H1:£39) - - 247 - 247
Forfeiture of share options (note 38) SRR B AR (M7238) - - (43) 43 -
Forfeiture of share awards (note 39) R U AR 17 528D (47539) - - (53) 53 =
Vesting of shares under share award A&7 42 @) 51 &I 53 AL 1D
scheme (note 39) (H17#39) = = (18) = (18)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-_MF=A=+—H 21,587 107,549 1,602 (2,833) 127,905

KMLTechnology Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/24
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41. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 41. HEFREHBRR
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and REMBRERAEFEN T NF A= +TEA
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2024. BOEW AT -
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Financial Summary

I E

RESULTS
Revenue

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year and total
comprehensive (loss)/income for the
year attributable to owners of the
Company

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

For the year ended 31 March

BE=ZA=t—HLFE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZECME —TBo=F —EB--F —TB-—F —E-FTHF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET FAT FHET FExT
Uezs 194,111 153,409 162,559 224,839 224,228
BE AT (B18) &5 (13,944) (32,399) 9,653 36,457 26,535
s RiiEe, (FX) 151 177 (1,768) (4,460) (4,923)
NRRER AEh
FREE),wH R
FAZHE BB, IR
ABEE (13,793) (32,222) 7,885 31,997 21,612
As at 31 March
R=A=+—8
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EBEoME —T-—fF —T—— —T-—F T -TF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FAT FAExT
BERAE
BEE 203,425 206,657 233,246 253,423 236,418
wmats (67,125) (57,013) (43,819) 61,612) (70,232)
RATHEE AEEER
136,300 149,644 189,427 191,811 166,186
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